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Part I

Item 1. Financial Information

The information furnished in our accompanying consolidated balance sheets, consolidated statements of operations and consolidated statements
of cash flows reflects all adjustments which are, in our opinion, necessary for a fair presentation of the aforementioned financial statements for
the interim periods.

The financial statements should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements and Management�s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations. The results of operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2004 are not necessarily
indicative of the operating results to be expected for the full year.
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CARRAMERICA REALTY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of September 30, 2004 and December 31, 2003

(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

September 30,

2004

December 31,

2003

(unaudited)
Assets
Rental property:
Land $ 765,637 $ 690,410
Buildings 2,020,468 1,974,347
Tenant improvements 436,279 420,533
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 50,008 48,216

3,272,392 3,133,506
Less: Accumulated depreciation (730,733) (692,901)

Total rental property 2,541,659 2,440,605

Land held for development or sale 41,623 41,284
Assets related to properties held for sale �  10,626
Cash and cash equivalents 3,196 4,299
Restricted deposits 3,956 2,549
Accounts and notes receivable, net 33,876 17,829
Investments in unconsolidated entities 153,317 137,604
Accrued straight-line rents 83,037 84,552
Tenant leasing costs, net 51,407 51,547
Prepaid expenses and other assets, net 66,095 45,123

$ 2,978,166 $ 2,836,018

Liabilities, Minority Interest, and Stockholders� Equity
Liabilities:
Mortgages and notes payable, net $ 1,867,817 $ 1,727,648
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 92,923 95,586
Rent received in advance and security deposits 31,895 34,757

Total liabilities 1,992,635 1,857,991

Minority interest 63,371 70,456

Stockholders� equity:
Preferred stock, $.01 par value, authorized 35,000,000 shares:
Series E Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock, at redemption value, issued and outstanding, 8,050,000
shares at September 30, 2004 and December 31, 2003. 201,250 201,250
Common Stock, $.01 par value, authorized 180,000,000 shares: issued and outstanding 54,455,442 shares
at September 30, 2004 and 52,880,953 shares at December 31, 2003. 545 529
Additional paid-in capital 1,016,373 976,644
Cumulative dividends in excess of net income (296,235) (270,852)
Accumulated other comprehensive income - Unrealized gains on available-for-sale securities 227 �  

Total stockholders� equity 922,160 907,571
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Commitments and contingencies
$ 2,978,166 $ 2,836,018

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CARRAMERICA REALTY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Operations

For the Three and Nine Months Ended September 30, 2004 and 2003

Three Months Ended

September 30,

Nine Months Ended

September 30,

(In thousands, except per share amounts)
2004 2003 2004 2003

(unaudited) (unaudited)
Operating revenues:
Rental revenue:
Base rent $ 99,458 $ 94,459 $ 293,112 $ 285,073
Recoveries from tenants 14,529 15,292 41,187 45,038
Parking and other tenant charges 4,146 3,629 14,625 14,856

Total rental revenue 118,133 113,380 348,924 344,967
Real estate service revenue 6,234 6,518 17,001 19,551

Total operating revenues 124,367 119,898 365,925 364,518

Operating expenses:
Property expenses:
Operating expenses 30,751 32,255 89,348 90,431
Real estate taxes 10,076 8,338 30,861 29,777
General and administrative 10,304 10,028 31,334 30,971
Depreciation and amortization 33,366 30,414 95,205 90,343

Total operating expenses 84,497 81,035 246,748 241,522

Real estate operating income 39,870 38,863 119,177 122,996

Other (expense) income:
Interest expense (28,362) (25,880) (82,538) (77,788)
Obligations under lease guarantees �  (811) �  (811)
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated entities 3,644 1,772 7,391 4,957
Interest income and other income (expense), net 505 (96) 1,729 95

Net other expense (24,213) (25,015) (73,418) (73,547)

Income from continuing operations before income taxes, minority interest, impairment
loss on real estate and gain (loss) on sale of properties 15,657 13,848 45,759 49,449
Income taxes 19 (63) (135) (435)
Minority interest (2,192) (2,616) (6,357) (8,385)
Impairment loss on real estate �  �  �  (2,701)
Gain (loss) on sale of properties �  120 (58) 3,365

Income from continuing operations 13,484 11,289 39,209 41,293
Discontinued operations - Net operations of properties sold 4,268 2,663 7,714 8,459
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Discontinued operations - Gain on sale of properties 19,804 10,035 19,870 10,035

Net income 37,556 23,987 66,793 59,787

Less: Dividends on preferred and unvested restricted stock and issuance costs of
redeemed preferred stock (3,931) (4,639) (11,794) (15,996)

Net income available to common shareholders $ 33,625 $ 19,348 $ 54,999 $ 43,791

Basic net income per common share:
Continuing operations $ 0.18 $ 0.13 $ 0.51 $ 0.49
Discontinued operations 0.44 0.24 0.51 0.36

Net income $ 0.62 $ 0.37 $ 1.02 $ 0.85

Diluted net income per common share:
Continuing operations $ 0.17 $ 0.13 $ 0.50 $ 0.48
Discontinued operations 0.44 0.24 0.51 0.36

Net income $ 0.61 $ 0.37 $ 1.01 $ 0.84

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CARRAMERICA REALTY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

For the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2004 and 2003

(In thousands)
2004 2003

(unaudited)
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income $ 66,793 $ 59,787
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 99,882 98,341
Minority interest 6,357 8,385
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated entities (7,391) (4,957)
Loss (gain) on sale of properties 58 (3,365)
Gain on sale of properties - discontinued operations (19,870) (10,035)
(Gain) loss on sale of residential property (326) 263
Impairment loss on real estate �  2,701
Obligations under lease guarantees �  811
Provision for uncollectible accounts 444 3,455
Stock-based compensation 2,538 2,937
Other 2,362 (163)
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Decrease in accounts receivable 4,847 7,423
Increase in accrued straight-line rents (4,753) (5,922)
Additions to tenant leasing costs (10,052) (13,664)
Increase in prepaid expenses and other assets (4,534) (10,375)
Decrease in accounts payable and accrued expenses (19,785) (13,642)
Decrease in rent received in advance and security deposits (1,679) (358)

Total adjustments 48,098 61,835

Net cash provided by operating activities 114,891 121,622

Cash flows from investing activities:
Rental property additions (6,280) (9,735)
Additions to tenant improvements (36,707) (22,042)
Additions to land held for development or sale and construction in progress (3,217) (14,664)
Rental property acquisitions (320,379) (51,100)
Issuance of notes receivable (13,164) (3,031)
Distributions from unconsolidated entities 5,389 13,603
Investments in unconsolidated entities (13,936) (14,350)
Acquisition of minority interest (4,406) (1,880)
(Increase) decrease in restricted deposits (1,407) 761
Proceeds from sale of residential property 2,727 402
Proceeds from sales of properties 201,702 38,817

Net cash used in investing activities (189,678) (63,219)

Cash flows from financing activities:
Repurchase of common shares �  (7,858)
Repurchase of preferred shares �  (58,270)
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Proceeds from the sale of preferred stock �  195,070
Exercises of stock options 34,881 10,373
Repayment of unsecured notes (150,000) �  
Proceeds from issuance of unsecured notes, net of issuance costs 419,967 �  
Net repayments on unsecured credit facility (100,500) (45,000)
Repayments of mortgages and notes payable (30,043) (49,112)
Dividends and distributions to minority interests (100,621) (101,359)

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 73,684 (56,156)

(Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (1,103) 2,247
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the period 4,299 5,238

Cash and cash equivalents, end of the period $ 3,196 $ 7,485

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest (net of capitalized interest of $457 and $1,293 for the nine months ended September 30,
2004 and 2003, respectively) $ 90,399 $ 90,656

Income tax payments, net $ 870 $ 388

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CARRAMERICA REALTY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(Unaudited)

(1) Description of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Business

We are a fully integrated, self-administered and self-managed publicly traded real estate investment trust (�REIT�). We focus on the acquisition,
development, ownership and operation of office properties, located primarily in selected suburban markets across the United States. Based on
property operating income, our most significant markets include Northern California, the Washington, D.C. metropolitan area, Southern
California and Seattle.

In December 2003, our Board of Directors approved a plan to restructure the manner in which we hold our assets by converting to what is
commonly referred to as an umbrella partnership REIT, or UPREIT, structure. On June 30, 2004, we contributed substantially all of our assets to
CarrAmerica Realty Operating Partnership, L.P. in exchange for units of common and preferred partnership interest in CarrAmerica Realty
Operating Partnership, L.P. CarrAmerica Realty Operating Partnership, L.P. assumed substantially all of our liabilities. Since the UPREIT
restructuring, substantially all of our business is being conducted through the CarrAmerica Realty Operating Partnership, L.P. and our primary
asset is our interest in the CarrAmerica Realty Operating Partnership, L.P.

(b) Basis of Presentation

The financial statements have been prepared using the accounting policies described in our 2003 annual report on Form 10-K.

Our accounts and those of our controlled subsidiaries and affiliates are consolidated in the financial statements. We consolidate all entities in
which we own a direct or indirect majority voting interest and where the minority holders do not have rights to participate in significant
decisions that are made in the ordinary course of business. If applicable, we would consolidate any variable interest entity of which we are the
primary beneficiary. We use the equity or cost methods, as appropriate in the circumstances, to account for our investments in and our share of
the earnings or losses of unconsolidated entities. These entities are not controlled by us. If events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
fair value of an investment accounted for using the equity method or cost method has declined below its carrying value and we consider the
decline to be �other than temporary,� the investment is written down to fair value and an impairment loss is recognized.

Management has made a number of estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses in
the financial statements, and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. Estimates are required in order for us to prepare our financial
statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Significant estimates are required in a
number of areas, including evaluating the impairment of long-lived assets and investments, allocating the purchase cost of acquired properties,
assessing our probable liability under lease guarantees for HQ Global Workplaces, Inc. (HQ Global) and evaluating the collectibility of accounts
receivable. Actual results could differ from these estimates.
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(c) Interim Financial Statements

The financial statements reflect all adjustments, which are, in our opinion, necessary to reflect a fair presentation of the results for the interim
periods, and all adjustments are of a normal, recurring nature.
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CARRAMERICA REALTY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(Unaudited)

(d) Earnings Per Share

The following table sets forth information relating to the computations of our basic and diluted earnings per share (�EPS�) from continuing
operations:

Three Months Ended

September 30, 2004

Three Months Ended

September 30, 2003

(In thousands,

except per share amounts) Earnings
(Numerator)

Shares
(Denominator)

Per Share
Amount

Earnings
(Numerator)

Shares
(Denominator)

Per Share
Amount

Basic EPS $ 9,553 54,069 $ 0.18 $ 6,650 51,925 $ 0.13

Stock options �  600 �  732

Diluted EPS $ 9,553 54,669 $ 0.17 $ 6,650 52,657 $ 0.13

Nine Months Ended

September 30, 2004

Nine Months Ended

September 30, 2003

(In thousands,

except per share amounts) Earnings
(Numerator)

Shares
(Denominator)

Per Share
Amount

Earnings
(Numerator)

Shares
(Denominator)

Per Share
Amount

Basic EPS $ 27,415 53,768 $ 0.51 $ 25,297 51,750 $ 0.49

Stock options �  564 �  629

Diluted EPS $ 27,415 54,332 $ 0.50 $ 25,297 52,379 $ 0.48

Income from continuing operations is reconciled to earnings available to common shareholders as follows:
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Three Months Ended

September 30,

Nine Months Ended

September 30,

(In thousands)
2004 2003 2004 2003

Income from continuing operations $ 13,484 $ 11,289 $ 39,209 $ 41,293
Dividends on preferred stock (3,773) (4,370) (11,320) (13,690)
Dividends on unvested restricted stock (158) (157) (474) (472)
Issuance costs of redeemed preferred stock �  (112) �  (1,834)

Earnings available to common shareholders $ 9,553 $ 6,650 $ 27,415 $ 25,297

On July 31, 2003, the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) issued a clarification of Emerging Issues Task Force Topic D-42, �The Effect
on the Calculation of Earnings per Share for the Redemption or Induced Conversion of Preferred Stock.� Topic D-42 provides, among other
things, that any excess of the fair value of the consideration transferred to the holders of preferred stock redeemed over the carrying amount of
the preferred stock should be subtracted from net earnings to determine net earnings available to common stockholders in the calculation of EPS.
The SEC�s clarification of the guidance in Topic D-42 provides that the carrying amount of the preferred stock should be reduced by the related
issuance costs. The July 2003 clarification of Topic D-42 was effective for us for the quarter ended September 30, 2003 and was required to be
reflected retroactively in the financial statements of prior periods.

The effects of units in CarrAmerica Realty, L.P. and Carr Realty Holdings, L.P. that are redeemable for shares of our common stock are not
included in the computation of diluted earnings per share as their effect is antidilutive for all periods presented.

(e) Derivative Financial Instruments and Hedging

On May 8, 2002, we entered into interest rate swap agreements with JP Morgan Chase and Bank of America, N.A. hedging $150.0 million of
senior unsecured notes due July 2004. We received interest at a fixed rate of 7.2% and paid interest at a variable rate of six-month LIBOR in
arrears plus 2.72%. The

8
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CARRAMERICA REALTY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(Unaudited)

interest rate swaps matured at the same time the notes were due. The swaps qualified as fair value hedges for accounting purposes. We
recognized reductions in interest expense for the nine months ended September 30, 2004 of approximately $1.9 million and for the three and
nine months ended September 30, 2003 of approximately $1.2 million and $3.7 million, respectively, related to the swaps. The notes were repaid
upon maturity on July 1, 2004 and the related interest rate swap agreements expired.

On November 20, 2002, in conjunction with the issuance of $175.0 million of senior unsecured notes, we entered into interest rate swap
agreements with JP Morgan Chase, Bank of America, N.A. and Goldman, Sachs & Co. We receive interest at a fixed rate of 5.25% and pay
interest at a variable rate of six-month LIBOR in arrears plus 1.405%. The interest rate swaps mature at the same time the notes are due. The
swaps qualify as fair value hedges for accounting purposes. As of September 30, 2004, the fair value of the interest rate swaps was a receivable
of approximately $0.8 million. We recognized reductions in interest expense for the three months ended September 30, 2004 and 2003 of
approximately $0.6 million and $1.1 million, respectively, related to the swaps. We recognized reductions in interest expense for nine months
ended September 30, 2004 and 2003 of approximately $2.4 million and $3.4 million, respectively, related to the swaps. As of September 30,
2004, taking into account the effect of the interest rate swaps, the effective interest rate on the notes was reduced to 3.40%.

On March 18, 2004, in conjunction with the issuance of $225.0 million of 3.625% senior unsecured notes, we entered into $100.0 million of
interest rate swap agreements with JP Morgan Chase and Bank of America, N.A. We receive interest at a fixed rate of 3.625% and pay interest at
a variable rate of six-month LIBOR in arrears plus 0.2675%. The interest rate swaps mature at the same time the notes are due. The swaps
qualify as fair value hedges for accounting purposes. As of September 30, 2004, the fair value of the interest rate swaps was a payable of
approximately $(2.7) million. We recognized a reduction in interest expense for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2004 of
approximately $0.4 million and $0.6 million, respectively, related to the swaps. As of September 30, 2004, taking into account the effect of the
interest rate swaps, the effective interest rate on $100.0 million of the notes was 2.80%.

On August 10, 2004, we entered into interest rate lock agreements with a notional amount of $150.0 million with JP Morgan, Goldman Sachs
and Morgan Stanley in anticipation of our $200.0 million senior unsecured bond offering. We settled the interest rate locks on August 20, 2004
and paid $0.6 million to the counterparties. The interest rate locks qualified as cash flow hedges and are being amortized to interest expense over
the life of our senior unsecured notes due in 2011. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2004, the impact of the interest rate
locks on interest expense was not material.

As part of the assumption of $63.5 million of debt associated with the purchase of two operating properties in August 2002, we purchased
interest rate caps with a notional amount of $97.0 million and LIBOR capped at 6.75%. These interest rate caps expired in September 2004.

In December 2003, we purchased an interest rate cap with a notional amount of $100.0 million and LIBOR capped at 8.0% which expires in
January 2005. As of September 30, 2004, the fair market value of this interest rate cap was not material.

(f) Stock/Unit Compensation Plans
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Through 2002, we applied the intrinsic value method of accounting prescribed by Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, �Accounting for
Stock Issued to Employees, � and related interpretations to account for our stock/unit compensation plans. Under this method, we recorded
compensation expense for awards of stock, options or units to employees only if the market price of the unit or stock on the grant date exceeded
the amount the employee was required to pay to acquire the unit or stock. Effective January 1, 2003, we adopted the fair value based method of
accounting for stock-based compensation costs. We elected to use the prospective method of transition to the fair value method provided in
SFAS No. 148, �Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation - Transition and Disclosure,� and, accordingly, the method is being applied for all
employee stock compensation awards granted, modified or settled on or after January 1, 2003.

9
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CARRAMERICA REALTY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(Unaudited)

The following table summarizes pro forma effects on net income and earnings per share if the fair value method had been used to account for all
stock-based compensation awards made between 1995 and 2002.

Three Months Ended

September 30,

Nine Months Ended

September 30,

(In thousands, except per share data)
2004 2003 2004 2003

Net income as reported $ 37,556 $ 23,987 $ 66,793 $ 59,787
Stock-based compensation cost from stock option plans
included in net income 38 47 114 104
Stock-based compensation cost from restricted stock plan
included in net income 738 522 2,424 2,833
Fair value of stock-based compensation (1,059) (1,142) (3,380) (4,656)

Pro forma net income $ 37,273 $ 23,414 $ 65,951 $ 58,068

Earnings per share as reported:
Basic $ 0.62 $ 0.37 $ 1.02 $ 0.85
Diluted 0.61 0.37 1.01 0.84
Earnings per share, pro forma:
Basic $ 0.62 $ 0.36 $ 1.01 $ 0.82
Diluted 0.61 0.36 1.00 0.81

(g) Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications of prior period amounts have been made to conform to the current period�s presentation.

(h) Other Comprehensive Income

We hold stock warrants which we obtained from a former tenant in settlement of its lease obligations. The unrealized gain or loss on these
securities is an item of other comprehensive income.

Comprehensive income is summarized as follows:
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Three Months Ended

September 30,

Nine Months Ended

September 30,

(In thousands)
2004 2003 2004 2003

Net income $ 37,556 $ 23,987 $ 66,793 $ 59,787
Item of comprehensive income - Unrealized gain on securities 2 �  227 �  

Comprehensive income $ 37,558 $ 23,987 $ 67,020 $ 59,787

(2) Gain on Sale of Properties and Discontinued Operations

The tables below summarize property sales for the nine months ended September 30, 2004 and 2003:

2004

Property

Name

Sale

Date

Square

Footage

Net Cash

Proceeds

($000)

Gain

Recognized

($000)

Tower of the Hills Mar-04 166,149 10,512 66
Atlanta Portfolio* Sep-04 1,696,757 191,190 19,804

* 15 operating office buildings located in Atlanta, Georgia. The properties were Glenridge, Holcomb Place, Midori, Parkwood, Summit,
Spalding Ridge, 2400 Lake Park Dr., 680 Engineering Dr., Embassy Row, Waterford and Forum.

10

Edgar Filing: CARRAMERICA REALTY CORP - Form 10-Q

Table of Contents 18



Table of Contents

CARRAMERICA REALTY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(Unaudited)

2003

Property

Name

Sale

Date

Square

Footage

Net Cash

Proceeds

($000)

Gain

Recognized

($000)

Wateridge May-03 62,194 9,277 3,571
Katella Aug-03 80,609 10,138 3,627
Pacificare Sep-03 104,377 14,485 6,380
Lakewood Sep-03 80,816 4,621 48

We dispose of assets from time to time that are inconsistent with our long-term strategic or return objectives. During the three months ended
September 30, 2004, we disposed of 15 office buildings in Atlanta, Georgia, exiting that market. The gain on this sale and the operating results
of these properties are classified as discontinued operations as we have no continuing involvement with the properties after the sale. We
recognized a gain of $19.8 million. During the three months ended September 30, 2003 we disposed of three operating properties, recognizing a
gain of $10.2 million, $10.0 million of which is classified as discontinued operations. We continued to manage the Lakewood property under a
management agreement and the gain on this sale and the operating results of the property were not classified as discontinued operations due to
our continuing involvement. We had no continuing involvement with the Katella and Pacificare properties and, accordingly, the gains on these
sales and the operating results of the properties were classified as discontinued operations.

During the nine months ended September 30, 2004, we disposed of 15 office buildings in Atlanta, Georgia, exiting that market and our Tower of
the Hills property. The gains on these sales and the operating results of these properties are classified as discontinued operations as we have no
continuing involvement with the properties after the sale. We recognized gains of $19.9 million. We had previously recognized an impairment
loss of $3.0 million on Tower of the Hills in the fourth quarter of 2003. During the nine months ended September 30, 2003, we disposed of four
operating properties, recognizing gains of $13.4 million, $10.0 million of which was classified as discontinued operations. We continued to
manage two properties (Wateridge and Lakewood) under management agreements and the gain on these sales and the operating results of these
properties were not classified as discontinued operations due to our continuing involvement. We had no continuing involvement with the Katella
and Pacificare properties and, accordingly, the gains on these sales and the operating results of the properties were classified as discontinued
operations. We also recognized an impairment loss of $2.7 million on the Lakewood property in the second quarter of 2003 as its estimated fair
market value less costs to sell was less than its carrying amount.

As stated above, the operating results of our Tower of the Hills, Pacificare and Katella properties and our Atlanta portfolio are classified as
discontinued operations. The operating results of a property we sold in November 2003 (Century Springs) with which we had no continuing
involvement after the sale, is also classified as discontinued operations. Operating results of the properties classified as discontinued operations
are summarized as follows:

For the three months ended

September 30,

For the nine months ended

September 30,
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(In thousands)
2004 2003 2004 2003

Revenue $ 7,023 $ 8,694 $ 21,294 $ 27,586
Property expenses 2,750 3,467 8,903 11,129
Depreciation and amortization 5 2,564 4,677 7,998

Net operations of properties sold or held for sale $ 4,268 $ 2,663 $ 7,714 $ 8,459

Number of buildings included in discontinued operations 15 20 17 20
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CARRAMERICA REALTY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
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(3) Acquisitions

During 2004, we acquired five operating properties (11 buildings) from third parties. These properties have approximately 1.2 million rentable
square feet and the net purchase cost was approximately $320.4 million. The table below details our 2004 acquisition.

Property

Name Market

Month

Acquired

Number

of

Buildings

Rentable

Square

Footage

Purchase

Cost

(000)

Commonwealth Tower Washington DC Jun-04 1 345,000 $ 130,593
CNB Washington DC Aug-04 1 205,869 85,044
Corporate Technology Centre San Francisco, CA Jul-04 2 176,280 25,604
Corporate Technology Centre San Francisco, CA Sep-04 5 331,950 43,594
Corporate Plaza II San Diego, CA Sep-04 2 116,166 35,544

The aggregate purchase cost of property acquired in 2004 was allocated as follows:

(In thousands)

Land $ 103,357
In-place lease intangibles 21,676
Building and tenant improvements 201,634
Deferred revenue and other (6,288)

$ 320,379

In September 2004, we invested $13.1 million in a joint venture with JPMorgan Fleming Asset Management which acquired two buildings
containing 361,000 rentable square feet in Dallas, Texas for $66.3 million. In October 2004, the venture bought an additional building for
approximately $5.6 million. We own a 20% interest in the joint venture.

(4) Mortgages and Notes Payable
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On June 30, 2004, we entered into a new $500.0 million, three year unsecured revolving credit facility with JPMorgan Chase Bank as
administrative agent for a syndicate of banks. The facility replaced and was used to repay all amounts outstanding under our previous unsecured
senior credit facility. We may increase the facility to $700.0 million by our request at any time within 24 months of the closing, provided the
funding commitments are increased accordingly. The facility can be extended one year at our option. The facility carries an interest rate of 65
basis points over 30-day LIBOR, or 2.49% as of September 30, 2004. As of September 30, 2004, $143.0 million was drawn on the credit facility,
$35.9 million in letters of credit were outstanding, and we had $321.1 million available for borrowing.

Our unsecured credit facility contains financial and other covenants with which we must comply. Some of these covenants include:

� A minimum ratio of annual EBITDA (earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization) to interest expense of at
least 2 to 1;

� A minimum ratio of annual EBITDA to fixed charges of at least 1.5 to 1;

� A maximum ratio of aggregate unsecured debt to tangible fair market value of our unencumbered assets of 60%;

� A maximum ratio of total secured debt to tangible fair market value of 30%;

� A maximum ratio of total debt to tangible fair market value of our assets of 55%; and

� Restrictions on our ability to make dividend distributions in excess of 90% of funds from operations or the minimum amount
necessary to enable us to maintain our status as a REIT.

12

Edgar Filing: CARRAMERICA REALTY CORP - Form 10-Q

Table of Contents 22



Table of Contents

CARRAMERICA REALTY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(Unaudited)

We issued $225.0 million principal amount of senior unsecured notes in March 2004 with net proceeds of approximately $222.7 million. The
notes bear interest at 3.625% per annum payable semi-annually beginning October 1, 2004. The notes mature on April 1, 2009. We used the
proceeds from the notes to pay down our unsecured credit facility.

We issued $200.0 million principal amount of senior unsecured notes in August 2004 with net proceeds of approximately $197.2 million. The
notes bear interest at 5.125% per annum payable semi-annually beginning March 1, 2005. The notes mature on September 1, 2011. We used the
proceeds from the notes to pay down our unsecured credit facility.

$150.0 million of senior unsecured notes matured on July 1, 2004 and were repaid on that date using borrowings from our unsecured credit
facility.

We repaid $30.0 million of fixed rate mortgage debt in the first nine months of 2004 and converted $19.7 million of mortgages to notes payable
secured by letters of credit.

(5) Guarantees

Our obligations under guarantee agreements at September 30, 2004 are summarized as follows:

Type of Guarantee    Project Relationship Term

Maximum

Exposure

Carrying

Value

Loan1 575 7th Street Apr-05 $ 40,000,000 $ �  
Loan2 Atlantic Building Mar-07 25,000,000 160,000
Completion3 Atlantic Building Mar-07 77,857,000 250,000
Loan4 Shakespeare Theatre Dec-04 16,500,000 175,000
Indemnification5 HQ Global unknown �  
Loan6 Square 320 Mar-05 16,070,000 135,000

1. Loan guarantee relates to a joint venture in which we have a 30% interest and for which we are the developer. It is a payment guarantee to
the lender on behalf of the joint venture. If the joint venture defaults on the loan, we may be required to perform under the guarantee. We
have a reimbursement guarantee from the other joint venture partner to repay us its proportionate share (70%) of any monies we pay under
the guarantee.

2. Loan guarantee relates to a third party project for which we are the developer. It is a payment guarantee to the lender. If the third
party defaults on the loan, we may be required to perform under the guarantee. We have a security interest in the third party�s interest
in the underlying property. In the event of a default, we can exercise our rights under the security agreement to take title to the
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property and sell the property to mitigate our exposure under the guarantee. We have entered into an agreement with the lender that
permits us to acquire the lender�s first position mortgage securing the loan if the third party defaults on the loan and we then make
payment in full to the lender under the guarantee.

3. Completion guarantee relates to a third party project for which we are the developer. It is a completion guaranty to the lender. If the third
party defaults on its obligation to construct the building, we may be required to perform. As long as there is no Event of Default under the
loan agreement, the lender will continue to make funds available from the construction loan to complete the project.

4. Represents a payment guarantee on a third party project for which we are the developer. We have entered into an agreement with the
lender that permits us to acquire the lender�s first position mortgage securing the loan if the third party defaults on the loan and we then
make payment in full to the lender under the guarantee.

5. See Part II, Item 1: Legal Proceedings for further discussion.
6. Loan guarantee relates to a third party project for which we are the developer. It is a payment guarantee to the lender. If the third

party defaults on the loan, we may be required to perform under the guarantee. We have a security interest in the third party�s interest
in the underlying property. In the event of a default, we can exercise our rights under the security agreement to take title to the
property and sell the property to mitigate our exposure under the guarantee. We have entered into an agreement with the lender that
permits us to acquire the lender�s first position mortgage securing the loan if the third party defaults on the loan and we then make
payment in full to the lender under the guarantee.

(6) Preferred and Common Stock

On March 18, 2003, we redeemed 2,000,000 shares of our Series B Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock at a redemption price of $25.00 per
share plus accrued and unpaid dividends for the period from March 1, 2003 through and including the redemption date, without interest. This
resulted in a cash expenditure of approximately
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$50.2 million in March 2003. Including this redemption, for the nine months ended September 30, 2003, we repurchased or redeemed 2,331,670
shares of our preferred stock for approximately $58.3 million, excluding accrued and unpaid dividends.

On September 25, 2003, we issued 8,050,000 shares of 7.5% Series E cumulative preferred stock with net proceeds of $195.1 million. These
shares are not redeemable before September 25, 2008 unless redemption is necessary to maintain our status as a REIT.

During the first nine months of 2003, we repurchased 322,600 shares of our common stock for approximately $7.9 million.

(7) Segment Information

Our only reportable operating segment is real estate property operations. Other business activities and operating segments that are not reportable
are included in other operations. The performance measure we use to assess results for real estate property operations is property operating
income. We define property operating income as total property operating revenue less property expenses, which includes property operating
expenses (other than depreciation and amortization) and real estate taxes. We believe that the presentation of property operating income is
helpful to investors as a measure of operating performance of our office properties because it excludes items that do not relate to or are not
indicative of the operating performance of the properties (including interest and depreciation and amortization) and which can make periodic
comparisons of operating performance more difficult. The real estate property operations segment includes the operation and management of
consolidated rental properties including those classified as discontinued operations. The accounting policies of the segments are the same as
those described in note 1.

Operating results of our reportable segment and our other operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2004 and 2003 are
summarized as follows:

For the three months ended September 30, 2004

(In millions)

Real Estate

Property
Operations

Other

Operations and
Unallocated

Reclassifications

-
Discontinued
Operations Total

Revenue $ 125.2 $ 6.2 $ (7.0) $ 124.4
Segment expense 43.6 10.3 (2.8) 51.1

Property/Segment operating income (loss) 81.6 (4.1) (4.2) 73.3
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Depreciation expense 33.4

Operating income 39.9
Interest expense (28.4)
Interest income and other income (expense), net 4.2
Minority interest and taxes (2.2)
Discontinued operations - Net operations of properties sold 4.3
Discontinued operations - Gain on sold properties 19.8

Net income $ 37.6
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For the three months ended September 30, 2003

(In millions)

Real Estate

Property
Operations

Other

Operations and
Unallocated

Reclassification

-
Discontinued
Operations Total

Revenue $ 122.1 $ 6.5 $ (8.7) $ 119.9
Segment expense 44.1 10.0 (3.5) 50.6

Property/Segment operating income (loss) 78.0 (3.5) (5.2) 69.3

Depreciation expense 30.4

Operating income 38.9
Interest expense (25.9)
Interest income and other income (expense), net 0.9
Gain on sale of properties 0.1
Minority interest and taxes (2.7)
Discontinued operations - Net operations of properties sold 2.7
Discontinued operations - Gain on sold properties 10.0

Net income $ 24.0

For the nine months ended September 30, 2004

(In millions)

Real Estate

Property
Operations

Other

Operations and
Unallocated

Reclassification

-
Discontinued
Operations Total

Revenue $ 370.2 $ 17.0 $ (21.3) $ 365.9
Segment expense 129.1 31.3 (8.9) 151.5

Property/Segment operating income (loss) 241.1 (14.3) (12.4) 214.4

Depreciation expense 95.2

Operating income 119.2
Interest expense (82.5)
Interest income and other income (expense), net 9.1
Loss on sale of properties (0.1)
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Minority interest and taxes (6.5)
Discontinued operations - Net operations of properties sold 7.7
Discontinued operations - Gain on properties sold 19.9

Net income $ 66.8
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For the nine months ended September 30, 2003

(In millions)

Real Estate

Property
Operations

Other

Operations and
Unallocated

Reclassification

-
Discontinued
Operations Total

Revenue $ 372.5 $ 19.6 $ (27.6) $ 364.5
Segment expense 131.3 31.0 (11.1) 151.2

Property/Segment operating income (loss) 241.2 (11.4) (16.5) 213.3

Depreciation expense 90.3

Operating income 123.0
Interest expense (77.8)
Interest income and other income (expense), net 4.3
Gain on sale of properties and impairment loss on real estate, net 0.7
Minority interest and taxes (8.8)
Discontinued operations - Net operations of properties sold 8.4
Discontinued operations - Gain on sold properties 10.0

Net income $ 59.8

(8) HQ Global Workplaces, Inc.

In 1997, we began making investments in HQ Global Workplaces, Inc. (�HQ Global�), a provider of executive office suites. During 1997 and
1998, to assist HQ Global as it grew its business, we provided guarantees of HQ Global�s performance under four office leases. On March 13,
2002, HQ Global filed for bankruptcy protection under Chapter 11 of the federal bankruptcy laws. In the course of the bankruptcy proceedings,
which were concluded in September 2003, HQ Global rejected two of these four leases. One lease was for approximately 22,000 square feet of
space at two adjacent buildings in San Jose, California. Our liability under this guarantee was limited to approximately $2.0 million. We reached
agreement with the landlord of this lease under which we paid $1.75 million in full satisfaction of the guarantee in January 2003. We recognized
this expense in 2002.

The second lease rejected by HQ Global was a sublease for approximately 26,000 square feet of space in downtown Manhattan. In June 2002,
we received a demand for payment of the full amount of the guarantee. We joined with HQ Global in filing suit on July 24, 2002 in HQ Global�s
bankruptcy proceedings asking the bankruptcy court to declare that, due to the surrender of the premises by HQ Global and the deemed
acceptance by the landlord under the sublease of that surrender by virtue of its use of the premises, the lease was terminated by the landlord
under the sublease not later than February 28, 2003. In light of our defenses and the uncertainty of these proceedings, we did not accrue any
expense related to the guarantee. However, on September 16, 2003, the bankruptcy court ruled that HQ Global did not effectively surrender the
premises under the sublease and that the landlord under the sublease therefore could not be deemed to have accepted a surrender. In October
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2003, we entered into a tentative settlement agreement with the landlord under the sublease, agreeing to pay $5.4 million in cash in one payment.
We accrued a provision for loss for this settlement in the third quarter of 2003 and paid it in the fourth quarter of 2003.

One of the guaranteed leases that was not rejected by HQ Global runs though January 2013, and is for approximately 19,000 square feet of space
in San Mateo, California. In the second quarter of 2002, we accrued a provision for loss under this guarantee of $6.9 million based on the
assumption that HQ Global would reject this lease and based on our estimates of the mitigated damages that would be incurred under the lease.
In January 2003, HQ Global assigned its interest as a tenant in this lease to us and we in turn subleased the space back to HQ Global at current
market rates together with the right to participate in a portion of HQ Global�s future profits, if any, generated by its operations in the space. These
agreements were subject to approval by the bankruptcy court and would have been enforceable only if HQ Global successfully reorganized and
emerged from bankruptcy proceedings. On September 15, 2003, HQ Global�s plan of reorganization was approved by the bankruptcy court.
Based on HQ Global�s reorganization plan being approved and HQ Global�s operating performance in the space, we reevaluated our estimated
loss related to the guarantee and reduced our provision for loss under this guarantee by $4.6 million in the third quarter of 2003 to $2.3 million.
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(9) Supplemental Cash Flow Information

We acquired $3.1 million of minority interest units which were redeemed for shares of our common stock during the nine months ended
September 30, 2004.

Our employees converted approximately $1.4 million in restricted units to 58,683 shares of common stock during the nine months ended
September 30, 2003.

(10) Subsequent Event

On October 22, 2004, a joint venture in which we own 50% interest disposed of its operating property. We realized a gain of approximately
$20.2 million from the sale.

17
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Item 2. Management�s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Introduction

The discussion that follows is based primarily on our consolidated financial statements as of September 30, 2004 and December 31, 2003 and for
the three and nine months ended September 30, 2004 and 2003 and should be read along with the consolidated financial statements and related
notes. The ability to compare one period to another may be significantly affected by acquisitions completed, development properties placed in
service and dispositions made during those periods.

As a result of the weak economic climate over the last several years, the office real estate markets were materially affected. The contraction of
office workforces reduced demand for office space and overall vacancy rates for office properties increased in all of our markets through 2002
and our operations were adversely impacted. In 2003, vacancy rates appeared to peak in many of our markets and some positive net absorption
of space started to occur. To date in 2004, the positive trend of reduced vacancy rates and positive net absorption has continued in most of our
markets. As a result of improved job growth, leasing activity is up significantly, and we believe that rental rates have stabilized in most of our
markets. However, because vacancy rates are still at high levels in most markets, we do not expect any material improvement in rental
economics for the next twelve months in most markets. In several of the healthier markets, such as Washington, D.C. and southern California,
rental rate increases are beginning to occur.

Due to the improving market conditions described above and the elimination of most of our poor credit quality tenants through lease defaults and
terminations in 2002, 2003 and the first half of 2004, we believe that our average occupancy in most markets has stabilized in the second half of
2004. The occupancy in our portfolio of operating properties decreased to 87.0% at September 30, 2004 compared to 87.8% at December 31,
2003 and 88.5% at September 30, 2003. If demand continues to improve in 2005, we expect that our overall portfolio average occupancy may
begin to climb. While our average occupancy has declined over 2003 much of that decline in average occupancy related to lease terminations. In
connection with terminating tenants in 2004, we have earned $6.6 million of termination fees through September 30, 2004. These fees are
non-recurring in nature and while we expect we will earn modest termination fees in 2005, we expect that termination fees in 2005 as compared
to 2004 will be substantially lower.

Rental rates on space that was re-leased in 2004 decreased an average of 18.6% in comparison to rates that were in effect under expiring leases.
While market rental rates have stabilized in most of our markets, rental rates on in-place leases in certain markets remain significantly above
current market rental rates. We estimate that market rental rates on leased space expiring in 2005 will be, on average, approximately 8%-12%
lower than straight-lined rents on expiring leases. We have 2.1 million square feet of space on which leases are currently scheduled to expire in
2005.

We expect service fee revenue to approximately $17-$20 million in 2005, a $4-$7 million reduction from 2004 due to lower development and
leasing fees.

During 2003 and continuing in 2004, we experienced increases in tenant improvement and leasing costs as compared to historical levels as a
result of competitive market conditions. We expect that tenant improvements will continue at high levels in 2005 due to continuing competitive
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market conditions. Additionally, we expect to incur unusually high levels of tenant improvements and lease commissions due to the
commencement of a 394,000 square foot lease in Washington, D.C. In connection with this lease, we expect to incur $14.6 million of tenant
improvements and lease commissions with additional amounts being incurred in 2006. The existing tenant will vacate the space on June 30,
2005 and this space will be taken out of service during the period required to prepare the space for the new tenant, which we estimate to be
between two and four months. In addition to high levels of tenant improvements and commissions, we will not recognize any revenue from the
new lease during the period the space is not in service.

In December 2003, our Board of Directors approved a plan to restructure the manner in which we hold our assets by converting to what is
commonly referred to as an umbrella partnership REIT, or UPREIT, structure. To effect the UPREIT restructuring, we formed CarrAmerica
Realty Operating Partnership, L.P., or the Operating Partnership, to which we contributed substantially all of our assets on June 30, 2004 in
exchange for units of common and preferred partnership interest in the Operating Partnership and the assumption by the Operating Partnership
of substantially all of our liabilities, including the assumption of the obligations under our unsecured credit facility and our senior unsecured
notes.

18
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Since the UPREIT restructuring, substantially all of our business is being conducted through the Operating Partnership and our primary asset is
our interest in the Operating Partnership. We undertook the UPREIT restructuring to enable us to better compete with other office REITs, many
of which are structured as UPREITs, for the acquisition of properties from tax-motivated sellers. As a result of the UPREIT restructuring, the
Operating Partnership can issue units of limited partnership interest in the Operating Partnership to tax-motivated sellers who contribute
properties to the Operating Partnership, thereby enabling those sellers to realize certain tax benefits that would be unavailable if we purchased
properties directly for cash. In addition, due to certain tax and timing considerations, we expect that the UPREIT restructuring has better
positioned us to take advantage of merger or strategic acquisition opportunities that may present themselves in the future.

General

During the nine months ended September 30, 2004 we completed the following significant transactions:

� We issued $225.0 million principal amount of 3.625% senior unsecured notes in March 2004 with net proceeds of approximately
$222.7 million which were used to pay down amounts outstanding under our unsecured line of credit. The notes mature April 1,
2009.

� We entered into a $100.0 million interest rate swap in connection with the issuance of the 3.625% senior unsecured notes which
qualifies for fair value hedge accounting.

� We issued $200.0 million principal amount of 5.125% senior unsecured notes in August 2004 with net proceeds of
approximately $197.2 million which were used to pay down amounts outstanding under our unsecured line of credit. The notes
mature on September 1, 2011.

� We retired $150.0 million of senior unsecured notes with proceeds from our unsecured line of credit.

� We disposed of 12 operating properties (17 buildings) generating net proceeds of approximately $201.7 million.

� We purchased 5 operating properties (11 buildings) with 1.2 million rentable square feet for $320.4 million.

� We acquired a 20% interest in a joint venture for $13.1 million which purchased a $66.3 million operating property.

� We entered into a three year $500.0 million unsecured revolving credit agreement with JPMorgan Chase Bank as administrative
agent for a syndicate of banks.

� We completed our UPREIT conversion in June 2004.

During the nine months ended September 30, 2003 we completed the following significant transactions:
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� We repurchased or redeemed an aggregate of 2.3 million shares of our preferred stock for approximately $58.3 million.

� We repurchased 322,600 shares of our common stock for approximately $7.9 million.

� We disposed of four operating properties generating net proceeds of approximately $38.5 million.

� We acquired a 20% interest in a joint venture which purchased a $190.0 million operating property.

� We acquired a 156,000 square foot building in California for $51.1 million.

� We issued 8.05 million shares of preferred stock with net proceeds of approximately $195.1 million.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Critical accounting policies and estimates are those that are both important to the presentation of our financial condition and results of operations
and require management�s most difficult, complex or subjective judgments. Our critical accounting policies and estimates relate to evaluating the
impairment of long-lived assets and investments, allocating the purchase cost of acquired properties, assessing our probable liability under lease
guarantees for HQ Global Workplaces, Inc. (�HQ Global�) and evaluating the collectibility of accounts receivable.

We assess the useful lives of our assets on a regular basis. If events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of a rental
property to be held and used, land held for development or lease intangibles may be impaired, we perform a recoverability analysis based on
estimated undiscounted cash flows to be generated from the
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property or tenant, as applicable, in the future. If the analysis indicates that the carrying value is not recoverable from future cash flows, the
property and related assets, such as tenant improvements and lease commissions, or lease intangibles are written down to estimated fair value
and an impairment loss is recognized. If we decide to sell rental properties or land holdings, we evaluate the recoverability of the carrying
amounts of the assets. If the evaluation indicates that the carrying value is not recoverable from estimated net sales proceeds, the property is
written down to estimated fair value less costs to sell and an impairment loss is recognized. Our estimates of cash flows and fair values of the
properties are based on current market conditions and consider matters such as rental rates and occupancies for comparable properties, recent
sales data for comparable properties and, where applicable, contracts or the results of negotiations with purchasers or prospective purchasers.
Changes in estimated future cash flows due to changes in our plans or views of market and economic conditions could result in recognition of
additional impairment losses which, under applicable accounting guidance, could be substantial.

We allocate the purchase cost of acquired properties to the related physical assets and in-place leases based on their fair values. The fair values
of acquired office buildings are determined on an �if-vacant� basis considering a variety of factors, including the physical condition and quality of
the buildings, estimated rental and absorption rates, estimated future cash flows and valuation assumptions consistent with current market
conditions. The �if-vacant� fair value is allocated to land, where applicable, buildings, tenant improvements and equipment based on property tax
assessments and other relevant information obtained in connection with the acquisition of the property.

The fair value of in-place leases includes the effect of leases with above or below market rents, where applicable, customer relationship value
and the cost of acquiring existing tenants at the date of acquisition. Above market and below market in-place lease values are determined on a
lease by lease basis based on the present value (using an interest rate which reflects the risks associated with the leases acquired) of the
difference between (a) the contractual amounts to be paid under the lease and (b) our estimate of the fair market lease rate for the corresponding
space over the remaining non-cancellable terms of the related leases. The capitalized below market lease values are amortized as an increase to
rental income over the initial term and any below market renewal periods of the related leases. Capitalized above market lease values are
amortized as a decrease to rental income over the initial term of the related leases. Customer relationship values are determined based on our
evaluation of the specific characteristics of each tenant�s lease and our overall relationship with the tenant. Characteristics we consider include
the nature and extent of our existing business relationships with the tenant, growth prospects for developing new business with the tenant, the
tenant�s credit quality and expectations of lease renewals. The value of customer relationship intangibles is amortized to expense over the lesser
of the initial lease term and any expected renewal periods or the remaining useful life of the building. We determine the fair value of the cost of
acquiring existing tenants by estimating the lease commissions avoided by having in-place tenants and avoided lost operating income for the
estimated period required to lease the space occupied by existing tenants at the acquisition date. The cost of acquiring existing tenants is
amortized to expense over the initial term of the respective leases. Should a tenant terminate its lease, the unamortized portion of the in-place
lease value is charged to expense. Changes in the assumptions used in the allocation of the purchase cost among the acquired assets would affect
the timing of recognition of the related revenue and expenses.

As a result of the bankruptcy of HQ Global, we were required to make estimates regarding our probable liability under guarantees of HQ
Global�s performance under four office leases. After carefully evaluating the facts and circumstances of each property and developments in the
bankruptcy proceedings, we accrued a loss of $8.7 million in 2002, our best estimate of the probable liability related to these guarantees. Our
estimated loss was based on such factors as the expected period of vacancy for the space before it could be relet, expected rental rates and other
factors. Circumstances surrounding these guarantees changed and we accrued a net additional loss of $0.8 million in the third quarter of 2003.

Our allowance for doubtful accounts receivable is established based on analysis of the risk of loss on specific accounts. The analysis places
particular emphasis on past-due accounts and considers information such as the nature and age of the receivable, the payment history of the
tenant or other debtor, the amount of security we hold, the financial condition of the tenant and our assessment of its ability to meet its lease
obligations, the basis for any disputes and the status of related negotiations, etc. Our estimate of the required allowance, which is reviewed on a
quarterly basis, is subject to revision as these factors change and is sensitive to the effects of economic and market conditions on our tenants,
particularly in our largest markets (i.e., the San Francisco Bay and Washington, D.C. Metro areas). We increased our provision for uncollectible
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accounts (and related accrued straight-line rents) by approximately $0.4 million and $3.5 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2004
and 2003, respectively. The decrease in the addition to our provision for uncollectible accounts in 2004 was due primarily to a reduction in
delinquent tenants� accounts as marginal tenants� leases were terminated or sublet and the effects of an improving economy.
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Results Of Operations

Property Operating Revenue

Property operating revenue is summarized as follows:

For the three months ended

September 30, Variance

For the nine months ended

September 30, Variance

(In millions)
2004 2003

2004 vs.

2003 2004 2003

2004 vs.

2003

Minimum base rent $ 99.5 $ 94.5 $ 5.0 $ 293.1 $ 285.1 $ 8.0
Recoveries from tenants 14.5 15.3 (0.8) 41.2 45.0 (3.8)
Parking and other tenant charges 4.1 3.6 0.5 14.6 14.9 (0.3)

Property operating revenue is composed of minimum base rent from our office buildings, revenue from the recovery of operating expenses from
our tenants and other revenue such as parking and termination fees. Occupancy rates in our buildings began to decline in most of our markets in
late 2001 and continued to decline through 2003. In second half of 2003, occupancy rates began to stabilize in most of our markets. The decline
negatively affected our operating revenue. Occupancy in our consolidated stabilized buildings (buildings in operation more than one year) by
market as of September 30, 2004 and 2003 was as follows:

September 30, 2004 September 30, 2003 Variance

Market

Rentable
Sq.

Footage

Percent

Leased

Rentable
Sq.

Footage

Percent

Leased

Rentable Sq.

Footage

Percent

Leased

Washington, DC 4,258,212 97.1 3,522,832 96.4 735,380 0.7
Chicago 1,225,117 62.2 1,225,895 67.2 (778) (5.0)
Atlanta �  �  1,784,355 80.2 (1,784,355) (80.2)
Dallas 1,005,668 84.3 1,006,358 81.3 (690) 3.0
Austin 265,901 70.1 432,050 92.6 (166,149) (22.5)
Denver 904,717 92.3 904,719 95.5 (2) (3.2)
Phoenix 532,506 100.0 532,506 100.0 �  �  
Portland 275,193 81.8 275,193 80.7 �  1.1
Seattle 1,496,957 79.5 1,500,896 77.7 (3,939) 1.8
Salt Lake City 628,399 87.5 628,349 87.0 50 0.5
San Francisco 6,176,169 85.9 5,667,576 90.3 508,593 (4.4)

Edgar Filing: CARRAMERICA REALTY CORP - Form 10-Q

Table of Contents 38



Los Angeles 659,604 78.6 658,831 95.4 773 (16.8)
Orange County 970,608 95.4 970,255 95.2 353 0.2
San Diego 1,307,574 86.5 1,191,901 91.6 115,673 (5.1)

Total 19,706,625 87.0 20,301,716 88.5 (595,091) (1.5)

Minimum Base Rent

Minimum base rent increased $5.0 million (5.3%) in the third quarter of 2004 compared to 2003. The increase in minimum base rent in 2004
was due primarily to rents from two buildings acquired in late 2003 and eleven buildings acquired in 2004 ($8.1 million) partially offset by
higher vacancies and lower rental rates ($3.1 million). We expect minimum base rent to continue to be under downward pressure during the
remainder of the year as a result of re-leasing space at significantly lower rates than those rates that were in effect under expiring leases.

Minimum base rent increased $8.0 million (2.8%) in the first nine months of 2004 compared to 2003. The increase in minimum base rent in
2004 was due primarily to rents from two buildings acquired in late 2003 and eleven buildings acquired in 2004 ($15.4 million) partially offset
by higher vacancies and lower rental rates ($7.4 million).

21

Edgar Filing: CARRAMERICA REALTY CORP - Form 10-Q

Table of Contents 39



Table of Contents

Management�s Discussion and Analysis

Our lease rollover by square footage and rent at September 30, 2004 is as follows:

Leased Sq.

Footage1

Rent

($000)

2004 495,567 9,638
2005 2,092,864 46,405
2006 2,510,855 64,172
2007 2,666,049 63,294
2008 2,492,855 54,766
2009 2,460,308 46,027
2010 1,169,396 28,599
2011 395,665 7,711
2012 1,067,382 26,369
2013 639,971 14,634
2014 and thereafter 1,153,865 43,653

17,144,777 405,268

1 Does not include vacant space at 9/30/04 - 2.6 million sq. ft.

Recoveries from Tenants

Recoveries from tenants decreased $0.8 million (5.2%) in the third quarter of 2004 from 2003. The reduction in recoveries from tenants is
primarily the result of higher vacancies and new base years for new tenants and renewing tenants ($1.6 million) partially offset by recoveries
from tenants in two buildings acquired in late 2003 and eleven buildings acquired in 2004 ($0.8 million).

Recoveries from tenants decreased $3.8 million (8.4%) in the first nine months of 2004 from 2003. The reduction in recoveries from tenants is
primarily the result of higher vacancies and new base years for new tenants and renewing tenants ($5.3 million) partially offset by recoveries
from tenants in two buildings acquired in late 2003 and eleven buildings acquired in 2004 ($1.5 million).

Parking and Other Tenant Charges

Parking and other tenant charges increased $0.5 million (13.9%) in the third quarter of 2004 from 2003. Lease termination fees increased $1.0
million in 2004. Lease termination fees are paid by a tenant in exchange for our agreement to terminate the lease or pursuant to a termination
provision in its lease document. Vacancies created as a result of these terminations negatively impact future rents until the space is relet. Other
tenant income and parking decreased $0.5 million in 2004.
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Parking and other tenant charges decreased $0.3 million (2.0%) in the first nine months of 2004 from 2003. Lease termination fees increased
$0.9 million in 2004 to $6.6 million from $5.7 million in 2003. Other tenant income and parking decreased $1.2 million in 2004.

Property Expenses

Property expenses are summarized as follows:

For the three months ended
September 30, Variance

For the nine months ended

September 30, Variance

(In millions)
2004 2003

2004 vs.
2003 2004 2003

2004 vs.

2003

Property operating expenses $ 30.8 $ 32.3 $ (1.5) $ 89.3 $ 90.4 $ (1.1)
Real estate taxes 10.1 8.3 1.8 30.9 29.8 1.1

Property operating expenses decreased $1.5 million (4.6%) in the third quarter of 2004 from 2003 due primarily to lower insurance expense
($0.8 million), bad debt expense ($1.0 million), repairs and maintenance expense ($0.3 million), utilities expense ($0.2 million) and general
office expense ($0.2 million) partially offset by expenses related to two buildings acquired in late 2003 and eleven buildings acquired in 2004
($1.4 million). Property operating expenses decreased $1.1 million (1.2%) for the first nine months of 2004 from 2003 due primarily to lower
bad debt
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expense ($2.8 million) and insurance expense ($1.6 million) partially offset by expenses related to two buildings acquired in late 2003 and
eleven buildings acquired in 2004 ($2.4 million). The decreases in bad debt expense in 2004 were due primarily to a reduction in delinquent
tenants� accounts as marginal tenants� leases were terminated or sublet and the effects of an improving economy. The decreases in insurance
expense in 2004 were due primarily to insurance rates remaining relatively unchanged at the May 2003 renewal and decreasing at the May 2004
renewal.

Real estate taxes increased $1.8 million (21.7%) in the third quarter of 2004 from 2003. The increase was due primarily to the impact of property
acquisitions ($0.8 million) and property tax refunds ($0.9 million) received in 2003. Real estate taxes increased $1.1 million (3.7%) in the first
nine months of 2004 from 2003. The increase was due primarily to the impact of property acquisitions ($1.6 million) and property tax refunds
($0.9 million) received in 2003. These increases were partially offset by lower assessments principally on properties in California.

Property Operating Income

Property operating income is the performance measure used to assess the results of our real estate property operations segment. We believe that
the presentation of property operating income is helpful to investors as a measure of the operating performance of our office properties because
it excludes items that do not relate to or are not indicative of operating performance of the properties (including interest and depreciation and
amortization) and which can make periodic comparisons of operating performance more difficult. Property operating income, defined as
property operating revenue less property expenses, is summarized as follows:

For the three months ended

September 30, Variance

For the nine months ended

September 30, Variance

(In millions)
2004 2003

2004
vs.

2003 2004 2003

2004
vs.

2003

Property operating income $ 77.3 $ 72.8 $ 4.5 $ 228.7 $ 224.9 $ 3.8
Property operating income percent 65.4% 64.2% 1.2% 65.5% 65.1% 0.4%

Property operating income increased $4.5 million (6.2%) in the third quarter of 2004 from 2003 due primarily to the impact of properties
acquired in late 2003 and 2004 partially offset by the impact of increased vacancies on rental income and recovery revenue. Property operating
income as a percentage of property operations revenue increased to 65.4% for the third quarter of 2004 compared to 64.2% in 2003 for the same
reasons.

Property operating income increased $3.8 million (1.7%) in the first nine of 2004 from 2003 due primarily to the impact of properties acquired
in late 2003 and 2004 partially offset by the impact of increased vacancies on rental income and recovery revenue. Property operating income as
a percentage of property operations revenue improved slightly at 65.5% for the first nine months of 2004 compared to 65.1% in 2003 for the
same reasons.
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Real Estate Service Revenue

Real estate service revenue, which includes our third party property management services and our development services, decreased $0.3 million
in the third quarter of 2004 from 2003. Real estate service revenue decreased $2.6 million in the first nine months of 2004 from 2003. During the
first nine months of 2004, while leasing fees increased $0.7 million, this increase was offset by a decrease in development fees ($2.8 million). In
2003, we earned one-time development incentive fees of $2.3 million from third parties.

General and Administrative Expense

General and administrative expense increased $0.3 million in the third quarter of 2004 as compared to 2003 and in the first nine months of 2004
compared to 2003.

Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation and amortization increased $3.0 million (9.7%) in the third quarter of 2004 compared to the third quarter of 2003. This increase
was due primarily to the effects of the depreciation and amortization related to buildings acquired in late 2003 and 2004, including the
amortization of related intangible assets.
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Depreciation and amortization increased $4.9 million (5.4%) in the first nine months of 2004 compared to the first nine months of 2003. This
increase was due primarily to the effects of the depreciation and amortization related to buildings acquired in late 2003 and 2004, including the
amortization of related intangible assets partially offset by depreciation and amortization related to buildings sold in 2003 that are not included
in discontinued operations.

Interest Expense

Interest expense increased $2.5 million (9.6%) during the third quarter of 2004 compared to 2003. This increase was due primarily to higher
average levels of debt outstanding ($4.7 million) as a result of our property acquisitions partially offset by lower average interest rates ($2.2
million).

Interest expense increased $4.8 million (6.1%) during the first nine months of 2004 compared to 2003. This increase was due primarily to higher
average levels of debt outstanding ($7.4 million) as a result of our property acquisitions and the 2003 preferred stock redemptions partially offset
by lower average interest rates ($2.6 million).

Other Income and Expense

Other income and expense, net was $4.1 million in the third quarter of 2004 compared to $0.9 million in the third quarter of 2003 due primarily
to increased equity in earnings of our unconsolidated joint ventures ($1.9 million) and interest income from our notes receivable ($0.6 million)
for which we increased funding in 2004. In third quarter of 2004, Carr Office Park, LLC, a joint venture in which we have a 35% interest,
recognized a $5.9 million termination settlement on a cancelled building development project with a third party. We recognized $2.1 million
through equity in earnings associated with this termination. In 2003, we recorded a charge of $0.8 million for obligations under lease guarantees
for HQ Global, Inc.

Other income and expense, net was $9.1 million in the first nine months of 2004 compared to $4.2 million in the first nine months of 2003 due
primarily to increased equity in earnings of our unconsolidated joint ventures ($2.4 million) and interest income from our notes receivable ($1.6
million) for which we increased funding of in 2004. In third quarter of 2004, Carr Office Park, LLC, a joint venture in which we have a 35%
interest, recognized a $5.9 million termination settlement on a cancelled building development project with a third party. We recognized $2.1
million through equity in earnings associated with this termination. In 2003, we recorded a charge of $0.8 million for obligations under lease
guarantees for HQ Global, Inc.

Gain on Sale of Properties and Discontinued Operations

The tables below summarize property sales for the nine months ended September 30, 2004 and 2003:
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2004

Property

Name

Sale

Date

Square

Footage

Net Cash
Proceeds

($000)

Gain

Recognized

($000)

Tower of the Hills Mar-04 166,149 10,512 66
Atlanta Portfolio* Sep-04 1,696,757 191,190 19,804

* 15 operating office buildings located in Atlanta, Georgia. The properties were Glenridge, Holcomb Place, Midori, Parkwood, Summit,
Spalding Ridge, 2400 Lake Park Dr., 680 Engineering Dr., Embassy Row, Waterford and Forum.

2003

Property

Name

Sale

Date

Square

Footage

Net Cash
Proceeds

($000)

Gain
Recognized

($000)

Wateridge May-03 62,194 9,277 3,571
Katella Aug-03 80,609 10,138 3,627
Pacificare Sep-03 104,377 14,485 6,380
Lakewood Sep-03 80,816 4,621 48

We dispose of assets from time to time that are inconsistent with our long-term strategic or return objectives. During the three months ended
September 30, 2004, we disposed of 15 office buildings in Atlanta, Georgia, exiting that
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market. The gain on this sale and the operating results of these properties are classified as discontinued operations as we have no continuing
involvement with the properties after the sale. We recognized a gain of $19.8 million. During the three months ended September 30, 2003 we
disposed of three operating properties, recognizing a gain of $10.2 million, $10.0 million of which is classified as discontinued operations. We
continued to manage the Lakewood property under a management agreement and the gain on this sale and the operating results of the property
were not classified as discontinued operations due to our continuing involvement. We had no continuing involvement with the Katella and
Pacificare properties and, accordingly, the gains on these sales and the operating results of the properties were classified as discontinued
operations.

During the nine months ended September 30, 2004, we disposed of 15 office buildings in Atlanta, Georgia, exiting that market and our Tower of
the Hills property. The gains on these sales and the operating results of these properties are classified as discontinued operations as we have no
continuing involvement with the properties after the sale. We recognized gains of $19.9 million. We had previously recognized an impairment
loss of $3.0 million on Tower of the Hills in the fourth quarter of 2003. During the nine months ended September 30, 2003, we disposed of four
operating properties, recognizing gains of $13.4 million, $10.0 million of which was classified as discontinued operations. We continued to
manage two properties (Wateridge and Lakewood) under management agreements and the gains on these sales and the operating results of these
properties were not classified as discontinued operations due to our continuing involvement. We had no continuing involvement with the Katella
and Pacificare properties and, accordingly, the gains on these sales and the operating results of the properties were classified as discontinued
operations. We also recognized an impairment loss of $2.7 million on the Lakewood property in the second quarter of 2003 as its estimated fair
market value less costs to sell was less than its carrying amount.

As stated above, the operating results of our Tower of the Hills, Pacificare and Katella properties and our Atlanta portfolio are classified as
discontinued operations. The operating results of a property we sold in November 2003 (Century Springs) with which we had no continuing
involvement after the sale, is also classified as discontinued operations. Operating results of the properties classified as discontinued operations
are summarized as follows:

For the three months ended

September 30,

For the nine months ended

September 30,

(In thousands)
2004 2003 2004 2003

Revenue $ 7,023 $ 8,694 $ 21,294 $ 27,586
Property expenses 2,750 3,467 8,903 11,129
Depreciation and amortization 5 2,564 4,677 7,998

Net operations of properties sold or held for sale $ 4,268 $ 2,663 $ 7,714 $ 8,459

Number of buildings included in discontinued operations 15 20 17 20

Consolidated Cash Flows
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Consolidated cash flow information is summarized as follows:

For the nine months ended

September 30, Variance

(In millions)
2004 2003

2004 vs.

2003

Cash provided by operating activities $ 114.9 $ 121.6 $ (6.7)
Cash used in investing activities (189.7) (63.2) (126.5)
Cash provided by (used in) financing activities 73.7 (56.2) 129.9

Operations generated $114.9 million of net cash for the first nine months of 2004 compared to $121.6 million in 2003. The change in cash flow
from operating activities was primarily the result of factors discussed above in the analysis of operating results. The level of net cash provided
by operating activities is also affected by the timing of receipt of revenues and payment of expenses.

Our investing activities used net cash of $189.7 million in 2004 and $63.2 million in 2003. The change in cash used in investing activities in
2004 was due primarily to increased property acquisition activity ($269.3 million), higher property and tenant improvement costs ($11.2
million), funding of notes receivable ($10.1 million) and minority interests acquired ($2.5 million). These increases were partially offset by
increased proceeds from sales of properties ($165.2 million).
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Our financing activities provided net cash of $73.7 million in 2004 and used net cash of $56.2 million in 2003. The change in net cash from
financing activities in 2004 was due primarily to lower repurchases or redemptions of common and preferred stock ($66.1 million), an increase
in stock option exercises ($24.5 million) and increased net borrowings and stock offerings ($38.5 million).

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

General

Our primary sources of capital are our real estate operations and our unsecured credit facility. As of September 30, 2004, we had approximately
$3.2 million in cash and cash equivalents and $321.1 million available for borrowing under our unsecured credit facility. We derive substantially
all of our revenue from tenants under leases at our properties. Our operating cash flow therefore depends materially on the rents that we are able
to charge to our tenants, and the ability of these tenants to make their rental payments.

Our primary uses of cash are to fund distributions to stockholders, to fund capital investment in our existing portfolio of operating assets, and to
fund new acquisitions and our development activities. As a REIT, we are required to distribute at least 90% of our taxable income to our
stockholders on an annual basis. We also regularly require capital to invest in our existing portfolio of operating assets in connection with
large-scale renovations, routine capital improvements, deferred maintenance on properties we have recently acquired, and our leasing activities,
including funding tenant improvements, allowances and leasing commissions. The amounts of the leasing-related expenditures can vary
significantly depending on negotiations with tenants and the willingness of tenants to pay higher base rents over the life of the leases.

During the remainder of 2004 and for 2005, we expect that we will have significant capital requirements, including the following items. There
can be no assurance that our capital requirements will not be materially higher or lower than these expectations.

� Funding dividends on our common and preferred stock and making distributions to third party unit holders in certain of our
subsidiaries;

� Approximately $20-$30 million and $95-$105 million in the fourth quarter of 2004 and for the year 2005, respectively, to invest in our
existing portfolio of operating assets, including approximately $15-$23 million and $80-$90 million in the fourth quarter of 2004 and
for the year 2005, respectively, to fund tenant-related capital requirements;

� No new net additional investments in the final quarter of 2004 and for the year 2005; and

� Approximately $11.7 million to fund mezzanine loans we have committed to make in connection with two projects for which we are
providing development management services.
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We expect to meet our capital requirements using cash generated by our real estate operations, by borrowings on our unsecured credit facility,
and from proceeds from the sale of properties. We could also raise additional debt or equity capital in the public market or fund acquisitions of
properties through property-specific mortgage debt.

We believe that we will generate sufficient cash flow from operations and have access to the capital resources necessary to expand and develop
our business, to fund our operating and administrative expenses, to continue to meet our debt service obligations, to pay dividends in accordance
with REIT requirements, to acquire additional properties and land, and to pay for construction in progress. However, as a result of general
economic downturns, if our credit rating is downgraded, if rental rates on new leases are significantly lower than expiring leases or if our
properties do not otherwise perform as expected, we may not generate sufficient cash flow from operations or otherwise have access to capital
on favorable terms, or at all. If we cannot raise the expected funds from the sale of properties and/or if we are unable to obtain capital from other
sources, we may not be able to pay the dividend required under the terms of our preferred stock or to maintain our status as a REIT, make
required principal and interest payments, make strategic acquisitions or make necessary routine capital improvements with respect to our
existing portfolio of operating assets. Any of these events could have a material adverse effect on our liquidity, financial condition, results of
operations and the trading prices of our securities. In addition, if a property is mortgaged to secure payment of indebtedness and we are unable to
meet mortgage payments, the holder of the mortgage could foreclose on the property, resulting in loss of
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income and asset value. An unsecured lender could also attempt to foreclose on some of our assets in order to receive payment. In most cases,
very little of the principal amount that we borrow is repaid prior to the maturity of the loan. We may refinance that debt when it matures, or we
may pay off the loan. If principal amounts due at maturity cannot be refinanced, extended or paid with proceeds of other capital transactions,
such as new equity capital, our cash flow may be insufficient to repay all maturing debt. Prevailing interest rates or other factors at the time of a
refinancing (such as possible reluctance of lenders to make commercial real estate loans) may result in higher interest rates and increased interest
expense.

Capital Structure

We manage our capital structure to reflect a long-term investment approach, generally seeking to match the stable return nature of our assets
with a mix of equity and various debt instruments. We expect that our capital structure will allow us to obtain additional capital from diverse
sources that could include additional equity offerings of common stock and/or preferred stock, public and private debt financings and possible
asset dispositions. Our ability to raise funds through sales of debt and equity securities is dependent on, among other things, general economic
conditions, general market conditions for REITs, rental rates, occupancy levels, market perceptions about us, our debt rating and the current
trading price of our stock. We will continue to analyze which source of capital is most advantageous to us at any particular point in time, but the
capital markets may not consistently be available on terms that are attractive.

In December 2003, our Board of Directors approved a plan to restructure the manner in which we hold our assets by converting to what is
commonly referred to as an umbrella partnership REIT, or UPREIT, structure. To effect the UPREIT restructuring, we formed CarrAmerica
Realty Operating Partnership, L.P., or the Operating Partnership, to which we contributed substantially all of our assets on June 30, 2004 in
exchange for units of common and preferred partnership interest in the Operating Partnership and the assumption by the Operating Partnership
of substantially all of our liabilities, including the assumption of the obligations under our unsecured credit facility and our senior unsecured
notes.

Since the UPREIT restructuring, substantially all of our business is being conducted through the Operating Partnership and our primary asset is
our interest in the Operating Partnership. We undertook the UPREIT restructuring to enable us to better compete with other office REITs, many
of which are structured as UPREITs, for the acquisition of properties from tax-motivated sellers. As a result of the UPREIT restructuring, the
Operating Partnership can issue units of limited partnership interest in the Operating Partnership to tax-motivated sellers who contribute
properties to the Operating Partnership, thereby enabling those sellers to realize certain tax benefits that would be unavailable if we purchased
properties directly for cash. In addition, due to certain tax and timing considerations, we believe that the UPREIT restructuring has better
positioned us to take advantage of merger or strategic acquisition opportunities that may present themselves in the future.

The Operating Partnership is capitalized through the issuance of units. We serve as the sole general partner of the Operating Partnership and
currently own the general partnership interest and substantially all of the common limited partnership interest. Our wholly owned subsidiary,
CarrAmerica OP, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, owns a nominal common limited partnership interest in the Operating Partnership.
Together, we and CarrAmerica OP, LLC own a number of common units in the Operating Partnership equal to the number of shares of our
common stock outstanding. In connection with the UPREIT conversion, the Operating Partnership issued to us 8,050,000 Series E Cumulative
Redeemable Preferred Partnership Units with terms that are substantially the same as the economic terms of our Series E preferred stock.
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The Operating Partnership is managed by us as the sole general partner of the Operating Partnership. Even if we in the future admit additional
limited partners, as the sole general partner of the Operating Partnership, we will generally have the exclusive power under the partnership
agreement to manage and conduct the business of the Operating Partnership, subject to certain limited approval and voting rights of the limited
partners, in most cases including us.

Real Estate Operations

As a result of the weak economic climate over the last several years, the office real estate markets were materially affected. The contraction of
office workforces reduced demand for office space and overall vacancy rates for office properties increased in all of our markets through 2002
and our operations were adversely impacted. In 2003, vacancy rates appeared to peak in many of our markets and some positive net absorption
of space started to occur. To date in 2004, the positive trend of reduced vacancy rates and positive net absorption has continued in most of our
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markets. As a result of improved job growth, leasing activity is up significantly, and we believe that rental rates have stabilized in most of our
markets. However, because vacancy rates are still at high levels in most markets, we do not expect any material improvement in rental
economics for the next twelve months in most markets. In several of the healthier markets, such as Washington, D.C. and southern California,
rental rate increases are beginning to occur.

Due to the improving market conditions described above and the elimination of most of our poor credit quality tenants through lease defaults and
terminations in 2002, 2003 and the first half of 2004, we believe that our average occupancy in most markets has stabilized in the second half of
2004. The occupancy in our portfolio of operating properties decreased to 87.0% at September 30, 2004 compared to 87.8% at December 31,
2003 and 88.5% at September 30, 2003. If demand continues to improve in 2005, we expect that our overall portfolio average occupancy may
begin to climb. While our average occupancy has declined over 2003 much of that decline in average occupancy related to lease terminations. In
connection with terminating tenants in 2004, we have earned $6.6 million of termination fees through September 30, 2004. These fees are
non-recurring in nature and while we expect we will earn modest termination fees in 2005, we expect that termination fees in 2005 as compared
to 2004 will be substantially lower.

Rental rates on space that was re-leased in 2004 decreased an average of 18.6% in comparison to rates that were in effect under expiring leases.
Although our top 25 tenants accounted for approximately 35.9% of our annualized minimum base rents, we believe that the diversity of our
tenant base (no tenant accounted for more than 5% of annualized minimum base rents as of September 30, 2004) helps insulate us from the
negative impact of tenant defaults and bankruptcies.

Debt Financing

We generally use unsecured, corporate-level debt, including senior unsecured notes and our unsecured credit facility, to meet our borrowing
needs. As a component of this financing strategy, we continue to unencumber our assets where possible by repaying existing mortgage debt with
unsecured debt. As of September 30, 2004, we had reduced our fixed rate mortgage debt to approximately $340.5 million, or 18.1% of our total
debt, from $370.3 million, or 24.5% of our total debt, as of September 30, 2003. We expect to extinguish three secured borrowings in the fourth
quarter of 2004, totaling approximately $60.0 million.

We generally use fixed rate debt instruments in order to match the returns from our real estate assets. We also utilize variable rate debt for
short-term financing purposes or to protect against the risk, at certain times, that fixed rates may overstate our long-term costs of borrowing if
assumed inflation or growth in the economy implicit in higher fixed interest rates do not materialize. At times, our mix of variable and fixed rate
debt may not suit our needs. At those times, we use derivative financial instruments including interest rate swaps and caps, forward interest rate
options or interest rate options in order to assist us in managing our debt mix. We will either hedge our variable rate debt to give it a fixed
interest rate or hedge fixed rate debt to give it a variable interest rate.

We have three investment grade ratings. As of September 30, 2004, Fitch Rating Services and Standard & Poors have each assigned their BBB
rating to our prospective senior unsecured debt offerings and their BBB- rating to our prospective cumulative preferred stock offerings. Moody�s
Investor Service has assigned its Baa2 rating with a stable outlook to our prospective senior unsecured debt offerings and its Baa3 rating to our
prospective cumulative preferred stock offerings. A downgrade in rating by any one of these rating agencies could result from, among other
things, a change in our financial position or a downturn in general economic conditions. Any such downgrade could adversely affect our ability
to obtain future financing or could increase the interest rates on our existing variable rate debt. However, we have no debt instruments under
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which the principal maturity would be accelerated upon a downward change in our debt rating.
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Our total debt at September 30, 2004 is summarized as follows:

(In thousands)

Fixed rate mortgages $ 340,514
Secured note payable 19,486
Unsecured credit facility 143,000
Senior unsecured notes 1,375,000

1,878,000
Unamortized discount and fair value adjustment, net (10,183)

$ 1,867,817

Our fixed rate mortgage debt bore an effective weighted average interest rate of 7.86% at September 30, 2004 and had a weighted average
maturity of 3.8 years. $143.0 million (7.6%) of our total debt at September 30, 2004 bore a LIBOR-based variable interest rate and $275.0
million (14.6%) of our debt was subject to variable interest rates through interest rate swap agreements. The interest rate on borrowings on our
unsecured credit facility at September 30, 2004 was 2.49%.

Our primary external source of liquidity is our credit facility. On June 30, 2004, we entered into a new $500.0 million, three year unsecured
revolving credit facility with JPMorgan Chase Bank as administrative agent for a syndicate of banks. The facility replaced and was used to repay
all amounts outstanding under our previous unsecured senior credit facility. We may increase the facility to $700.0 million by our request at any
time within 24 months of the closing, provided the funding commitments are increased accordingly. The facility can be extended one year at our
option. The facility carries an interest rate of 65 basis points over 30-day LIBOR, or 2.49% as of September 30, 2004. As of September 30,
2004, $143.0 million was drawn on the credit facility, $35.9 million in letters of credit were outstanding, and we had $321.1 million available for
borrowing.

Our unsecured credit facility contains financial and other covenants with which we must comply. Some of these covenants include:

� A minimum ratio of annual EBITDA (earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization) to interest expense of at least 2 to
1;

� A minimum ratio of annual EBITDA to fixed charges of at least 1.5 to 1;

� A maximum ratio of aggregate unsecured debt to tangible fair market value of our unencumbered assets of 60%;

� A maximum ratio of total secured debt to tangible fair market value of 30%;
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� A maximum ratio of total debt to tangible fair market value of our assets of 55%; and

� Restrictions on our ability to make dividend distributions in excess of 90% of funds from operations or the minimum amount
necessary to enable us to maintain our status as a REIT.

As of September 30, 2004, we were in compliance with our loan covenants; however, our ability to draw on our unsecured credit facility or incur
other unsecured debt in the future could be restricted by the loan covenants. Failure to comply with any of the covenants under our unsecured
credit facility or other debt instruments could result in a default under one or more of our debt instruments. This could cause our lenders to
accelerate the timing of payments and would therefore have a material adverse effect on our business, operations, financial condition or
liquidity.
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We have senior unsecured notes outstanding at September 30, 2004 as follows:

(In thousands)

Note

Principal

Unamortized

Discount

Fair Value

Adjustment Total

6.625% notes due in 2005 100,000 (264) �  99,736
7.375% notes due in 2007 125,000 (398) �  124,602
5.261% notes due in 2007 50,000 (95) �  49,905
5.25% notes due in 2007 175,000 (857) 836 174,979
3.625% notes due in 2009 225,000 (689) (2,669) 221,642
6.875% notes due in 2008 100,000 (1,412) �  98,588
5.125% notes due in 2011 200,000 (623) �  199,377
7.125% notes due in 2012 400,000 (4,012) �  395,988

$ 1,375,000 $ (8,350) $ (1,833) $ 1,364,817

All of the notes are unconditionally guaranteed by CarrAmerica Realty, L.P., one of our subsidiaries.

Our senior unsecured notes also contain covenants with which we must comply. These include:

� Limits on our total indebtedness on a consolidated basis;

� Limits on our secured indebtedness on a consolidated basis;

� Limits on our required debt service payments; and

� Compliance with the financial covenants of our credit facility.

We were in compliance with our senior unsecured notes covenants as of September 30, 2004.

We issued $225.0 million principal amount of senior unsecured notes in March 2004 with net proceeds of approximately $222.7 million. The
notes bear interest at 3.625% per annum payable semi-annually beginning October 1, 2004. The notes mature on April 1, 2009. We used the
proceeds from the notes to pay down our unsecured credit facility.
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We issued $200.0 million principal amount of senior unsecured notes in August 2004 with net proceeds of approximately $197.2 million. The
notes bear interest at 5.125% per annum payable semi-annually beginning March 1, 2005. The notes mature on September 1, 2011. We used the
proceeds from the notes to pay down our unsecured credit facility.

$150.0 million of senior unsecured notes matured on July 1, 2004 and were repaid on that date using borrowings from our unsecured credit
facility.

We repaid $30.0 million of fixed rate mortgage debt in the first nine months of 2004 and converted $19.7 million of mortgages to notes payable
secured by letters of credit.

Derivative Financial Instruments

On May 8, 2002, we entered into interest rate swap agreements with JP Morgan Chase and Bank of America, N.A. hedging $150.0 million of
senior unsecured notes due July 2004. We received interest at a fixed rate of 7.2% and paid interest at a variable rate of six-month LIBOR in
arrears plus 2.72%. The interest rate swaps matured at the same time the notes were due. The swaps qualified as fair value hedges for accounting
purposes. We recognized reductions in interest expense for the nine months ended September 30, 2004 of approximately $1.9 million and for the
three and nine months ended September 30, 2003 of approximately $1.2 million and $3.7 million, respectively, related to the swaps. The notes
were repaid upon maturity on July 1, 2004 and the related interest rate swap agreements expired.

On November 20, 2002, in conjunction with the issuance of $175.0 million of senior unsecured notes, we entered into interest rate swap
agreements with JP Morgan Chase, Bank of America, N.A. and Goldman, Sachs & Co. We receive interest at a fixed rate of 5.25% and pay
interest at a variable rate of six-month LIBOR in arrears plus 1.405%. The interest rate swaps mature at the same time the notes are due. The
swaps qualify as fair value hedges for
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accounting purposes. As of September 30, 2004, the fair value of the interest rate swaps was a receivable of approximately $0.8 million. We
recognized reductions in interest expense for the three months ended September 30, 2004 and 2003 of approximately $0.6 million and $1.1
million, respectively, related to the swaps. We recognized reductions in interest expense for nine months ended September 30, 2004 and 2003 of
approximately $2.4 million and $3.4 million, respectively, related to the swaps. As of September 30, 2004, taking into account the effect of the
interest rate swaps, the effective interest rate on the notes was reduced to 3.40%.

On March 18, 2004, in conjunction with the issuance of $225.0 million of 3.625% senior unsecured notes, we entered into $100.0 million of
interest rate swap agreements with JP Morgan Chase and Bank of America, N.A. We receive interest at a fixed rate of 3.625% and pay interest at
a variable rate of six-month LIBOR in arrears plus 0.2675%. The interest rate swaps mature at the same time the notes are due. The swaps
qualify as fair value hedges for accounting purposes. As of September 30, 2004, the fair value of the interest rate swaps was a payable of
approximately $(2.7) million. We recognized a reduction in interest expense for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2004 of
approximately $0.4 million and $0.6 million, respectively, related to the swaps. As of September 30, 2004, taking into account the effect of the
interest rate swaps, the effective interest rate on $100.0 million of the notes was 2.80%.

On August 10, 2004, we entered into interest rate lock agreements with a notional amount of $150.0 million with JP Morgan, Goldman Sachs
and Morgan Stanley in anticipation of our $200.0 million senior unsecured bond offering. We settled the interest rate locks on August 20, 2004
and paid $0.6 million to the counterparties. The interest rate locks qualified as cash flow hedges and are being amortized to interest expense over
the life of our senior unsecured notes due in 2011. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2004, the impact of the interest rate
locks on interest expense was not material.

As part of the assumption of $63.5 million of debt associated with the purchase of two operating properties in August 2002, we purchased
interest rate caps with a notional amount of $97.0 million and LIBOR capped at 6.75%. These interest rate caps expired in September 2004.

In December 2003, we purchased an interest rate cap with a notional amount of $100.0 million and LIBOR capped at 8.0% which expires in
January 2005. As of September 30, 2004, the fair market value of this interest rate cap was not material.

Stock Repurchases and Dividends

On March 18, 2003, we redeemed 2,000,000 shares of our Series B Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock at a redemption price of $25.00 per
share plus accrued and unpaid dividends for the period from March 1, 2003 through and including the redemption date, without interest. This
resulted in a cash expenditure of approximately $50.2 million in March 2003. Including this redemption, for the nine months ended September
30, 2003, we repurchased or redeemed 2,331,670 shares of our preferred stock for approximately $58.3 million, excluding accrued and unpaid
dividends.

On September 25, 2003, we issued 8,050,000 shares of 7.5% Series E cumulative preferred stock with net proceeds of $195.1 million. These
shares are not redeemable before September 25, 2008 unless redemption is necessary to maintain our status as a REIT.
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Our Board of Directors has authorized us to spend up to $400.0 million to repurchase our common stock, preferred stock and debt securities,
excluding the 9.2 million shares repurchased from Security Capital in November 2001 and our preferred stock redemptions of 4.0 million, 2.0
million and 7.9 million shares in September 2002, March 2003 and October 2003, respectively, which were separately approved. Since the start
of this program in mid-2000 through September 30, 2004, we have acquired approximately 10.4 million of our common shares for an aggregate
purchase price of approximately $296.9 million, including 322,600 shares for approximately $7.9 million in the first nine months of 2003. We
continue to monitor market conditions and other alternative investments in order to evaluate whether repurchase of our securities is appropriate.

We pay dividends quarterly. The maintenance of these dividends is subject to various factors, including the discretion of the Board of Directors,
the ability to pay dividends under Maryland law, the availability of cash to make the necessary dividend payments and the effect of REIT
distribution requirements, which require at least 90% of our taxable income to be distributed to stockholders. The table below details our
dividend and distribution payments for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
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For the three months ended

September 30,

For the nine months ended

September 30,

(In thousands)
2004 2003 2004 2003

Preferred stock dividends $ 3,773 $ 4,281 $ 11,319 $ 14,217
Unit distributions 2,736 3,306 8,317 9,176
Common stock dividends 27,192 26,058 80,985 77,966

$ 33,701 $ 33,645 $ 100,621 $ 101,359

Cash flows from operations are an important factor in our ability to sustain our dividend at its current rate. Cash flows from operations declined
from $121.6 million in 2003 to $114.9 million in 2004 due in part to increased vacancy rates in our office property portfolio. We expect our cash
flow from operations to be lower in 2005 than 2004 and tenant improvements are expected to remain at elevated levels as a result of factors
mentioned in the introduction to our Management�s Discussion and Analysis, including but not limited to, lower expected lease termination fees,
continued declines in rental rates compared to the rates on expiring leases and costs associated with a new lease in Washington, D.C. for
approximately 394,000 rentable square feet. This lease requires the space to be taken out of service for a period of two to four months for
remodeling for the new tenant, includes eight months of abated rent and requires significant capital investment in tenant improvements and lease
commissions. We expect that these factors will negatively impact our cash flow from operations and our ability to cover our current dividend
payment level using cash flow from operations. We may be forced to borrow funds under our line of credit to maintain our dividend. The Board
of Directors will evaluate our dividend in January of 2005 and will consider all these factors in establishing our 2005 common stock dividend
rate. In addition, under our line of credit, we generally are restricted from paying dividends that would exceed 90% of our funds from operations
during any four-quarter period.

Capital Commitments

We will require capital for development projects currently underway and in the future. As of September 30, 2004, we had under construction
approximately 124,000 rentable square feet in an office building and one parking garage in joint venture projects in which we own a minority
interest. These projects are expected to cost $21.2 million, of which our total investment is expected to be approximately $7.4 million. Through
September 30, 2004, approximately $11.7 million or 55.3% of total project costs had been expended on these projects. We have financed our
investment in joint venture projects under construction at September 30, 2004 primarily from borrowings under our credit facility. We expect
that our credit facility and project-specific financing of selected assets will provide the additional funds required to complete existing
development projects and to finance the costs of additional projects we may undertake. As a result of market conditions, we believe we will be
limiting our development activities in the near future and expect to continue to concentrate our growth efforts on the acquisition of properties.

Unconsolidated Investments and Joint Ventures

We have minority ownership interests in two non-real estate operating companies, AgilQuest and essention, which we account for using the cost
method and in which we invested $2.8 million and $1.7 million, respectively. We evaluate these investments regularly considering factors such
as the companies� progress against their business plans, their operating results and estimated fair values of their equity securities. Based on these
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evaluations, we recognized impairment losses of $1.1 million on our investment in AgilQuest in the fourth quarter of 2003 and $500,000 on our
investment in essention in the fourth quarter of 2002. In the future, additional impairment charges related to our investments may be required.

We have investments in real estate joint ventures in which we hold 15%-50% interests. These investments are accounted for using the equity
method and therefore the assets and liabilities of the joint ventures are not included in our consolidated financial statements. In September 2004,
we invested $13.1 million in a joint venture with JPMorgan Fleming Asset Management which acquired two buildings containing 361,000
rentable square feet in Dallas, Texas for $66.3 million. In October 2004, this venture bought an additional building for $5.6 million. We own a
20% interest in the joint venture. Most of these joint ventures own and operate office buildings financed by non-recourse debt obligations that
are secured only by the real estate and other assets of the joint ventures. We have no obligation to repay this debt and the lenders have no
recourse to our other assets. As of September 30, 2004, we guaranteed $40.0 million of debt related to a joint venture and have provided
completion guarantees related to two joint venture projects for which total costs are anticipated to be $173.3 million, of which $153.2 million
had been expended to date. We have not funded any amounts under these guarantees and do not expect any funding will be required in the
future.
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Our investments in these joint ventures are subject to risks not inherent in our majority owned properties, including:

� Absence of exclusive control over the development, financing, leasing, management and other aspects of the project;

� Possibility that our co-venturer or partner might:

� become bankrupt;

� have interests or goals that are inconsistent with ours;

� take action contrary to our instructions, requests or interests (including those related to our qualification as a REIT for tax
purposes); or

� otherwise impede our objectives; and

� Possibility that we, together with our partners, may be required to fund losses of the investee.

In addition to making investments in these ventures, we provide construction management, leasing and property management, development and
architectural and other services to them. We earned fees for these services of $3.1 million and $3.2 million for the three months ended
September 30, 2004 and 2003, respectively, and $6.9 million and $6.5 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2004 and 2003,
respectively. Accounts receivable from joint ventures and other affiliates were $1.8 million at September 30, 2004 and $0.7 million at September
30, 2003.

Guarantee Obligations

Our obligations under guarantee agreements at September 30, 2004 are summarized as follows:

Type of Guarantee Project Relationship Term

Maximum

Exposure

Carrying

Value

Loan1 575 7th Street Apr-05 $ 40,000,000 $ �  
Loan2 Atlantic Building Mar-07 25,000,000 160,000
Completion3 Atlantic Building Mar-07 77,857,000 250,000
Loan4 Shakespeare Theatre Dec-04 16,500,000 175,000
Indemnification5 HQ Global unknown �  
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Loan6 Square 320 Mar-05 16,070,000 135,000

1. Loan guarantee relates to a joint venture in which we have a 30% interest and for which we are the developer. It is a payment guarantee to
the lender on behalf of the joint venture. If the joint venture defaults on the loan, we may be required to perform under the guarantee. We
have a reimbursement guarantee from the other joint venture partner to repay us its proportionate share (70%) of any monies we pay under
the guarantee.

2. Loan guarantee relates to a third party project for which we are the developer. It is a payment guarantee to the lender. If the third
party defaults on the loan, we may be required to perform under the guarantee. We have a security interest in the third party�s interest
in the underlying property. In the event of a default, we can exercise our rights under the security agreement to take title to the
property and sell the property to mitigate our exposure under the guarantee. We have entered into an agreement with the lender that
permits us to acquire the lender�s first position mortgage securing the loan if the third party defaults on the loan and we then make
payment in full to the lender under the guarantee.

3. Completion guarantee relates to a third party project for which we are the developer. It is a completion guaranty to the lender. If the third
party defaults on its obligation to construct the building, we may be required to perform. As long as there is no Event of Default under the
loan agreement, the lender will continue to make funds available from the construction loan to complete the project.

4. Represents a payment guarantee on a third party project for which we are the developer. We have entered into an agreement with the
lender that permits us to acquire the lender�s first position mortgage securing the loan if the third party defaults on the loan and we then
make payment in full to the lender under the guarantee.

5. See Part II, Item 1: Legal Proceedings for further discussion.
6. Loan guarantee relates to a third party project for which we are the developer. It is a payment guarantee to the lender. If the third

party defaults on the loan, we may be required to perform under the guarantee. We have a security interest in the third party�s interest
in the underlying property. In the event of a default, we can exercise our rights under the security agreement to take title to the
property and sell the property to mitigate our exposure under the guarantee. We have entered into an agreement with the lender that
permits us to acquire the lender�s first position mortgage securing the loan if the third party defaults on the loan and we then make
payment in full to the lender under the guarantee.

In the normal course of business, we guarantee our performance of services or indemnify third parties against our negligence.

33

Edgar Filing: CARRAMERICA REALTY CORP - Form 10-Q

Table of Contents 63



Table of Contents

Management�s Discussion and Analysis

Funds from Operations

Funds from Operations (�FFO�) is a widely used measure of operating performance for real estate companies. We provide FFO as a supplement to
net income calculated in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (�GAAP�). Although FFO is a
widely used measure of operating performance for equity REITs, FFO does not represent net income calculated in accordance with GAAP. As
such, it should not be considered an alternative to net income as an indication of our operating performance. In addition, FFO does not represent
cash generated from operating activities in accordance with GAAP, nor does it represent cash available to pay distributions and should not be
considered as an alternative to cash flow from operating activities, determined in accordance with GAAP as a measure of our liquidity, nor is it
indicative of funds available to fund our cash needs, including our ability to make cash distributions. FFO is defined by the National Association
of Real Estate Investment Trusts (NAREIT) as follows:

� Net income - computed in accordance with GAAP;

� Less gains (or plus losses) from sales of operating properties and items that are classified as extraordinary items under GAAP;

� Plus depreciation and amortization of assets uniquely significant to the real estate industry;

� Plus or minus adjustments for unconsolidated partnerships and joint ventures (to reflect funds from operations on the same basis).

We believe that FFO is helpful to investors as a measure of our performance because it excludes various items included in net income that do not
relate to or are not indicative of our operating performance, such as gains and losses on sales of real estate and real estate related depreciation
and amortization, which can make periodic comparison of operating performance more difficult. Our management believes, however, that FFO,
by excluding such items, which can vary among owners of similar assets in similar condition based on historical cost accounting and useful life
estimates, can help compare the operating performance of a company�s real estate between periods or as compared to different companies. Our
FFO may not be comparable to FFO reported by other REITs. These other REITs may not define the term in accordance with the current
NAREIT definition or may interpret the current NAREIT definition differently than us.

The following table provides the calculation of our FFO and a reconciliation of FFO to net income for the periods presented:

For the three months ended

September 30,

For the nine months ended

September 30,

(In thousands)
2004 2003 2004 2003

Net income $ 37,556 $ 23,987 $ 66,793 $ 59,787

Adjustments
Minority interest 2,192 2,616 6,357 8,385
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FFO allocable to Unitholders (3,653) (4,343) (10,713) (13,122)
Depreciation and amortization 35,316 34,658 106,070 103,654
Minority interests� (non-Unitholders share of depreciation, amortization and net
income) (258) (333) (798) (940)
(Gain) loss on sale of properties (19,804) (10,155) (19,812) (13,400)

FFO as defined by NAREIT1 $ 51,349 $ 46,430 $ 147,897 $ 144,364

1 FFO as defined by NAREIT includes impairment losses on real estate.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Statements contained in this Form 10-Q which are not historical facts may be forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 21E of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the �Exchange Act�). We intend such forward-looking statements to be covered by the safe harbor
provisions for forward-looking statements contained in Section 21E of the Exchange Act. Such statements (none of which is intended as a
guarantee of performance) are
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subject to certain risks and uncertainties, which could cause our actual future results, achievements or transactions to differ materially from those
projected or anticipated. Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date
this Form 10-Q is filed with the SEC. A number of important factors could cause actual results to differ materially from those indicated by the
forward-looking statements, including, but not limited to, the risks described in our annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December
31, 2003. Such factors include, among others:

� National and local economic, business and real estate conditions that will, among other things, affect:

� Demand for office space,

� The extent, strength and duration of any economic recovery, including the effect on demand for office space and the creation of
new office development,

� Availability and creditworthiness of tenants,

� The level of lease rents, and

� The availability of financing for both tenants and us;

� Adverse changes in the real estate markets, including, among other things:

� The extent of tenant bankruptcies, financial difficulties and defaults,

� The extent of future demand for office space in our core markets and barriers to entry into markets which we may seek to enter
in the future,

� The extent of the decreases in rental rates,

� Our ability to identify and consummate attractive acquisitions on favorable terms,

� Our ability to consummate any planned dispositions in a timely manner on acceptable terms, and

� Changes in operating costs, including real estate taxes, utilities, insurance and security costs;

� Actions, strategies and performance of affiliates that we may not control or companies in which we have made investments;
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� Ability to obtain insurance at a reasonable cost;

� Ability to maintain our status as a REIT for federal and state income tax purposes;

� Ability to raise capital;

� Effect of any terrorist activity or other heightened geopolitical risks;

� Governmental actions and initiatives; and

� Environmental/safety requirements.

For further discussion of these and other factors that could impact our future results, performance, achievements or transactions, see the
documents we file from time to time with the Securities and Exchange Commission, and in particular, the section titled �The Company � Risk
Factors� in our Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Our future earnings and cash flows and the fair values of our financial instruments are dependent upon prevailing market rates. Market risk
associated with financial instruments and derivative and commodity instruments is the risk of loss from adverse changes in market prices or
rates. We manage our risk by matching projected cash inflows from operating activities, financing activities and investing activities with
projected cash outflows to fund debt payments, acquisitions, capital expenditures, distributions and other cash requirements. We may also use
derivative financial instruments at times to limit market risk. Derivative financial instruments may be used to convert variable rate debt to a
fixed rate basis, to convert fixed rate debt to a variable rate basis or to hedge anticipated financing transactions. We use derivative financial
instruments only for hedging purposes, and not for speculation or trading purposes.

On May 8, 2002, we entered into interest rate swap agreements with JP Morgan Chase and Bank of America, N.A. hedging $150.0 million of
senior unsecured notes due July 2004. We received interest at a fixed rate of 7.2% and paid interest at a variable rate of six-month LIBOR in
arrears plus 2.72%. The interest rate swaps matured at the same time the notes were due. The swaps qualified as fair value hedges for accounting
purposes. We recognized reductions in interest expense for the nine months ended September 30, 2004 of approximately $1.9 million and for the
three and nine months ended September 30, 2003 of approximately $1.2 million and $3.7 million, respectively, related to the swaps. The notes
were repaid upon maturity on July 1, 2004 and the related interest rate swap agreements expired.

On November 20, 2002, in conjunction with the issuance of $175.0 million of senior unsecured notes, we entered into interest rate swap
agreements with JP Morgan Chase, Bank of America, N.A. and Goldman, Sachs & Co. We receive interest at a fixed rate of 5.25% and pay
interest at a variable rate of six-month LIBOR in arrears plus 1.405%. The interest
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rate swaps mature at the same time the notes are due. The swaps qualify as fair value hedges for accounting purposes. As of September 30, 2004,
the fair value of the interest rate swaps was a receivable of approximately $0.8 million. We recognized reductions in interest expense for the
three months ended September 30, 2004 and 2003 of approximately $0.6 million and $1.1 million, respectively, related to the swaps. We
recognized reductions in interest expense for nine months ended September 30, 2004 and 2003 of approximately $2.4 million and $3.4 million,
respectively, related to the swaps. As of September 30, 2004, taking into account the effect of the interest rate swaps, the effective interest rate
on the notes was reduced to 3.40%.

On March 18, 2004, in conjunction with the issuance of $225.0 million of 3.625% senior unsecured notes, we entered into $100.0 million of
interest rate swap agreements with JP Morgan Chase and Bank of America, N.A. We receive interest at a fixed rate of 3.625% and pay interest at
a variable rate of six-month LIBOR in arrears plus 0.2675%. The interest rate swaps mature at the same time the notes are due. The swaps
qualify as fair value hedges for accounting purposes. As of September 30, 2004, the fair value of the interest rate swaps was a payable of
approximately $(2.7) million. We recognized a reduction in interest expense for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2004 of
approximately $0.4 million and $0.6 million, respectively, related to the swaps. As of September 30, 2004, taking into account the effect of the
interest rate swaps, the effective interest rate on $100.0 million of the notes was 2.80%.

On August 10, 2004, we entered into interest rate lock agreements with a notional amount of $150.0 million with JP Morgan, Goldman Sachs
and Morgan Stanley in anticipation of our $200.0 million senior unsecured bond offering. We settled the interest rate locks on August 20, 2004
and paid $0.6 million to the counterparties. The interest rate locks qualified as cash flow hedges and are being amortized to interest expense over
the life of our senior unsecured notes due in 2011. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2004, the impact of the interest rate
locks on interest expense was not material.

As part of the assumption of $63.5 million of debt associated with the purchase of two operating properties in August 2002, we purchased
interest rate caps with a notional amount of $97.0 million and LIBOR capped at 6.75%. These interest rate caps expired in September 2004.

In December 2003, we purchased an interest rate cap with a notional amount of $100.0 million and LIBOR capped at 8.0% which expires in
January 2005. As of September 30, 2004, the fair market value of this interest rate cap was not material.

Our unsecured line of credit carries an interest rate of 30-day LIBOR plus 0.65%. This exposes us to the risk of higher interest costs if 30-day
LIBOR should increase above its current low levels. A 10% increase in the current interest rate would have increased interest expense on the line
of credit approximately $0.4 million for the first nine months of 2004.

If the market rates of interest on our interest rate swap agreements increase by 10% (or approximately 32 basis points), our interest expense
would have increased by approximately $0.2 million in the third quarter of 2004 and $0.7 million for the first nine months of 2004.

Any other significant changes in our market risk that have occurred since the filing of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2003 are summarized in the Liquidity and Capital Resources section of the Management�s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures
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Evaluation was performed under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer, of the effectiveness as of September 30, 2004 of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as defined
in Rule 13a-15 of the rules promulgated under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Based on that evaluation, the Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the design and operation of these disclosure controls and procedures were effective
as of the end of the period covered by this report.
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Part II

OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

HQ Global Stockholders

We are currently involved in a lawsuit filed in April 2000 by two stockholders of HQ Global arising out of the June 2000 merger transaction
involving HQ Global and VANTAS Incorporated. These two stockholders originally brought claims against HQ Global, the board of directors of
HQ Global, FrontLine Capital Group and us in Delaware Chancery Court. The two stockholders allege that, in connection with the merger
transaction, we breached our fiduciary duties to the two stockholders and breached a contract with the stockholders. The claim relates principally
to the allocation of consideration paid to us with respect to our interest in an affiliate of HQ Global that conducted international executive suites
operations. The stockholders asked the court to rescind the transaction, or in the alternative to award compensatory and rescissory damages. The
court determined that it would not rescind the merger transaction, but held open the possibility that compensatory damages could be awarded or
that another equitable remedy might be available.

In connection with the HQ Global/VANTAS merger transaction, we agreed to indemnify all of the individuals who served as directors of HQ
Global at the time of the transaction, including Thomas A. Carr, Oliver T. Carr, Jr. (who retired from our Board of Directors as of April 29,
2004) and Philip Hawkins, who currently serve as directors and/or executive officers of us, with respect to any losses incurred by them arising
out of the above litigation (as well as related litigation that was resolved in our favor in the second quarter of 2003), if they first tried and were
unsuccessful in getting the losses reimbursed by HQ Global or from insurance proceeds. It was expected at the time that these former directors
would be indemnified against any of these losses by HQ Global, as required by HQ Global�s certificate of incorporation and bylaws. HQ Global
indicated that it did not intend to satisfy its indemnity obligation to these directors. As a result, we have paid the costs incurred by these directors
in connection with the above litigation. We have paid approximately $804,000 of costs pursuant to this indemnification arrangement, all of
which represents amounts paid to legal counsel for these directors for this suit and the related litigation that was resolved in our favor in the
second quarter of 2003. The directors of HQ Global involved in the Delaware litigation filed a proof of claim in the company�s bankruptcy
proceedings for their legal fees. A settlement of this claim was reached on June 25, 2004. In pertinent part, pursuant to the terms of the
settlement agreement, the parties: (i) executed a mutual release of claims; (ii) agreed that the directors will be deemed to hold collectively a
single allowed unsecured non-priority claim in the amount of $300,000 against the estate of HQ Global; and (iii) preserved the rights of the
directors to pursue claims, if any, they may have against HQ Global�s insurance carriers which have denied coverage for the claims in the
Delaware litigation. This settlement is subject to the approval of the bankruptcy court. We do not expect to receive any material proceeds as a
result of the directors� settlement of their proof of claim.

We believe that these claims, including those asserted against us and against the former directors who we are obligated to indemnify, are without
merit and that we and the former directors will ultimately prevail in this action, although we cannot assure you that the court will not find in
favor of these stockholders. If the court did find in favor of these stockholders, such adverse result or any indemnification obligation arising
from such adverse result could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations. Currently, these stockholders have not asserted the
amount of any potential damages and, based on the preliminary proceedings to date, we are unable to determine a potential range of loss with
respect to the claims against us or the former directors.

Winstar Communications
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On September 3, 2003, Winstar Communications and several affiliated entities (Winstar) brought suit against us, a number of other leading
commercial real estate companies and the Building Owners and Managers Association International and Building Owners and Managers
Association of New Jersey trade associations (BOMA). The suit asserts claims for violations of federal and state antitrust law, federal
communications law, state business tort law, and seeks both monetary damages of an unspecified amount and injunctive relief. The claims are
premised upon allegations that the real estate firms, through and with BOMA, colluded and agreed to deny Winstar necessary access to
commercial real estate by denying Winstar access and/or charging Winstar disadvantageous and discriminatory fees that were higher than those
charged to the incumbent local telephone companies. As a result of this alleged collusive conduct, Winstar claims that it has been damaged in its
ability to provide competitive telecommunications services to customers leasing office space in the defendants� commercial real estate properties.
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Due to the inherent uncertainties of the judicial process and the early stage of this action, we are unable to either predict the outcome of, or
estimate a range of potential loss associated with, this litigation. We dispute the plaintiffs� claims and intend to vigorously defend this matter.
However, not withstanding such uncertainties, we believe, although there can be no assurance, that the outcome of this matter will not have a
material adverse effect on our financial position or overall trends in results of operations.

Other Proceedings

We are party to a variety of other legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business. All of these matters, taken together, are not
expected to have a material adverse impact on us.

Item 6. Exhibits and Reports on Form 8-K

(a) Exhibits

10.1 Underwriting agreement, dated as of August 18, 2004, by and between CarrAmerica Realty Operating
Partnership, L.P., J.P. Morgan Securities Inc., and Banc of America Securities LLC (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 1.1 to the Company�s current report filed on Form 8-K on August 23, 2004).

10.2 Terms Agreement, dated as of August 18, 2004, by and among CarrAmerica Realty Operating Partnership, L.P.,
CarrAmerica Realty Corporation, CarrAmerica Realty, L.P., Banc of America Securities LLC, J.P. Morgan
Securities Inc., Citigroup Global Markets Inc., Goldman, Sachs & Co., Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated, UBS
Securities LLC, Wachovia Capital Markets, LLC, A.G. Edwards & Sons, Inc., BNY Capital Markets, Inc.,
Commerzbank Capital Markets Corp., Legg Mason Wood Walker, Incorporated, Piper Jaffray & Co., PNC
Capital Markets, Inc., SunTrust Capital Markets, Inc. and Wells Fargo Brokerage Services, LLC (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 1.2 to the Company�s current report filed on Form 8-K on August 23, 2004).

31.1 Section 302 Certification from Mr. Thomas A. Carr, dated November 1, 2004

31.2 Section 302 Certification from Mr. Stephen E. Riffee, dated November 1, 2004

32.1 Section 906 Certification from Mr. Thomas A. Carr and Mr. Stephen E. Riffee, dated November 1, 2004
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

CARRAMERICA REALTY CORPORATION

/s/ Kurt A. Heister

Kurt A. Heister, Senior Vice President and Controller
(on behalf of the registrant and as the registrant�s

chief accounting officer)

Date: November 1, 2004
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